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Financial Highlights (In thousands, except per share amounts and employee data)

All share and per share amounts referred to in the above table have been adjusted to refl ect the two-for-one stock split in the form of a stock dividend effected October 24, 2000.

(1) In 2000, includes investment gains of $14.3 million, one-time gains from the sale of assets of $2.7 million, restructuring and other charges of $5.6 million, in-process research and development of $0.5 million, and amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles of 
$7.0 million. In 1999, includes investment gains of $88.9 million, one-time gains from the sale of assets of $5.7 million, restructuring and other charges of $23.0 million, acquired in-process research and development of $3.6 million, and amortization of goodwill and 
purchased intangibles of $4.8 million. In 1998, includes investment gains of $15.0 million, restructuring and other charges of $38.2 million, and amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles of $7.7 million. In 1997, includes investment gains of $34.3 million, 
other nonrecurring gains of $0.6 million, acquired in-process research and development of $6.0 million, and amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles of $2.6 million. In 1996, includes investment gains of $68.9 million, acquired in-process research and 
development of $21.3 million, restructuring charges related to divested products of $5.0 million, and amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles of $2.4 million.

 D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7  N O V E M B E R  2 8  N O V E M B E R  2 9

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0   1 9 9 9   1 9 9 8   1 9 9 7    1 9 9 6

Operations:

 Revenue $ 1,266,378 $ 1,015,434 $ 894,791 $ 911,894 $ 786,563

 Income before income taxes 443,739 374,427 167,694 296,090 244,824

 Net income(1) 287,808 237,751 105,144 186,837 153,277

 Net income per share(1)

 Basic 1.21 0.98 0.40 0.65 0.53

 Diluted 1.13 0.92 0.39 0.63 0.51

 Cash dividends declared per common share 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05

Financial position:

 Cash and short-term investments 679,853 498,716 272,547 502,956 564,116

 Working capital 563,307 355,386 204,979 454,299 506,092

 Total assets 1,069,416 803,859 767,331 940,071 1,001,393

 Stockholders’ equity 752,544 512,209 516,365 715,424 706,514

Additional data:

 Worldwide employees 2,947 2,745 2,664 2,654 2,222
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R E V E N U E

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E  1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Revenue  $ 1,266.4 25% $ 1,015.4 13% $  894.8

Revenue is categorized into four major operating segments: Web Publishing, Cross-media 

Publishing, ePaper Solutions, and OEM PostScript and Other. The Web Publishing, 

Cross-media Publishing, and ePaper Solutions segments include application products 

revenue that is derived predominantly from shipments of application software programs 

marketed through retail, VAR, and OEM distribution channels, as well as direct to end 

users through Adobe call centers and our Web site. The OEM PostScript and Other 

 segment includes licensing revenue, which is made up of royalties received from OEM 

partners who ship products containing Adobe’s PostScript technology, and includes 

 revenue from divested businesses.

Revenue from our Web Publishing segment is derived primarily from the licensing of the 

 following application products: Adobe Photoshop, Adobe Premiere, After Effects, GoLive, 

Adobe PhotoDeluxe®, Adobe Web Collection, Adobe Dynamic Media Collection, PageMill®, 

LiveMotion (formerly ImageStyler™), and ActiveShare™. Cross-media Publishing revenue 

comes primarily from the licensing of the following application products: Adobe 

Illustrator, PageMaker, InDesign, FrameMaker, Adobe Publishing Collection, Adobe 

Design Collection, Adobe Type Manager®, Adobe Type Library, PressReady™, Adobe Font 

Folio™, InCopy™, Acrobat InProduction™, Adobe Dimensions®, and Streamline™. The  ePaper 

Solutions segment is derived from the licensing of Adobe Acrobat software and other 

Acrobat related technologies. 

For further information regarding our operating segments, see Note 16 of the Notes to 

Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The following discussion (presented in millions, except per share amounts) should be read in conjunction 

with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

In addition to historical information, this Annual Report contains forward-looking statements that 

involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially. Factors that might 

cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section 

entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—

Factors That May Affect Future Results of Operations.” You should carefully review the risks described 

in other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including 

the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed in 2001. When used in this report, the words “expects,” 

“anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “targets,” “estimates,” and similar expressions 

are generally intended to identify forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance 

on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. We under-

take no obligation to publicly release any revisions to the forward-looking statements or ref lect events 

or circumstances after the date of this document.

Results of Operations

O V E R V I E W

Founded in 1982, Adobe Systems Incorporated (“Adobe”) is a provider of graphic design, 

publishing, and imaging software for Web and print  production. We offer a market-

leading line of application software products, type  products, and content for creating, 

distributing, and managing information of all types. We license our  technology to major 

hardware manufacturers, software developers, and service  providers, and we offer 

 integrated software solutions to businesses of all sizes. We  distribute our products 

through a network of distributors and dealers, value-added  resellers (“VARs”), systems 

integrators, and original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) partners; direct to end users 

through Adobe call centers; and through our own Web site at www.adobe.com. We have 

operations in the Americas; Europe, Middle East, and Africa (“EMEA”); and Asia. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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During fiscal 2000, overall revenue increased 25% compared to fiscal 1999, driven 

 primarily by increased licensing of products in our Web Publishing, ePaper Solutions, 

and Cross-media Publishing segments. Our Web Publishing segment provided the 

majority of the revenue growth in fiscal 2000, as it grew 36% from $394.1 million in fiscal 

1999 to $536.6 million in fiscal 2000. The increase in revenue from this segment was 

primarily driven by the strength of Photoshop 5.5 revenue during the first three quarters 

of fiscal 2000 and the release of our Photoshop 6.0 product in the fourth quarter of fiscal 

2000. Also contributing to the growth in this segment in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 

1999 was the increased revenue from our Web and Dynamic Media Collection products, 

which were first introduced in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, and increased licensing of 

our LiveMotion, Adobe Premiere, After Effects, GoLive, and ActiveShare products. The 

increase in revenue in this segment was partially offset by a decline in revenue from our 

PageMill and PhotoDeluxe products, due to product lifecycle timing and pricing.

Revenue from our ePaper Solutions segment increased 61% from $129.3 million in fiscal 

1999 to $207.8 million in fiscal 2000 due to the continuing penetration of Acrobat and its 

related technologies into major industry sectors and various government agencies.

Revenue from our Cross-media Publishing segment increased 10% from $353.9 million 

in fiscal 1999 to $390.5 million in fiscal 2000. This $36.6 million increase was primarily 

due to the new release of Illustrator 9.0 in the third quarter of fiscal 2000. This segment 

also benefited from the new release of FrameMaker 6.0 in the second quarter of fiscal 

2000, as well as increased revenue from our Adobe Design Collection, Adobe Type 

Manager, Acrobat InProduction, and PressReady products. The increase in revenue from 

this segment was partially offset by a decline in revenue from our Adobe Publishing 

Collection product, primarily due to the introduction of our new Adobe Web, Dynamic 

Media, and Design Collection products, and a decline in revenue in both InDesign, due to 

slower adoption of this product in fiscal 2000 compared to the adoption upon the initial 

release of this product in fiscal 1999, and PageMaker, due to product lifecyle timing.

The increase in revenue from the above-mentioned segments in fiscal 2000 compared to 

fiscal 1999 was partially offset by a 5% decline in revenue from our OEM PostScript and 

Other segment, as it decreased from $138.2 million in fiscal 1999 to $131.5 million in 

 fiscal 2000. Revenue from this segment decreased in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999 due 

to lower royalty rates paid by our OEMs and the ongoing weakness in the monochrome 

laser printer market as a result of the following factors: loss of royalty revenue from 

Hewlett-Packard Company’s (“HP”) desktop monochrome laser printer division, which 

has been incorporating a clone version of Adobe PostScript software into its products 

since the fall of 1997; a decline in the average selling price of monochrome laser printers; 

and an increase in the use of inkjet printers, resulting in weakness in the monochrome 

laser printer market.

Although we experienced better-than-expected results in fiscal 2000 due to the strength 

of the high-end color and digital copier markets, we expect our OEM PostScript license 

business to decline approximately 10% in fiscal 2001 compared to fiscal 2000.

During fiscal 1999, overall revenue increased 13% compared to fiscal 1998, due to 

increased licensing of products in the Cross-media Publishing, ePaper Solutions, and Web 

Publishing segments. Excluding revenue from businesses divested in the third quarter of 

fiscal 1998, revenue increased 16%. The Cross-media Publishing segment provided the 

majority of the fiscal 1999 revenue growth, with a 30% increase from $272.2 million in 

 fiscal 1998 to $353.9 million in fiscal 1999. The increase in revenue from this segment was 

primarily due to increased licensing of our Adobe Publishing Collection product and the 

introduction of InDesign in the second half of fiscal 1999. The increase in revenue from 

these products was partially offset by a decline in revenue from PageMaker, Illustrator, 

and FrameMaker, primarily due to product lifecycle timing.

Additional revenue growth in fiscal 1999 was achieved through our ePaper Solutions 

 segment, as revenue more than doubled compared to fiscal 1998, from $58.0 million in 

fiscal 1998 to $129.3 million in fiscal 1999. This increase was due to the release of Acrobat 4.0 
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in the second quarter of fiscal 1999, with a higher number of units licensed as a result of 

growing customer adoption of Adobe Acrobat and Adobe Portable Document Format 

(“PDF”) technology. 

The Web Publishing segment also contributed to the revenue growth, as it grew 11% in 

 fiscal 1999 to $394.1 million compared to $354.2 million in fiscal 1998. The increase was 

primarily due to the new release of our GoLive product and increased licensing of our 

Photoshop, After Effects, and Adobe Premiere products. In addition, this segment experi-

enced increased revenue from our Adobe Web Collection and Adobe Dynamic Media 

Collection products. The increase in revenue from this segment in fiscal 1999 was partially 

offset by a decline in revenue from our Adobe PhotoDeluxe product, due to reduced pricing, 

and a decline in revenue from our PageMill product, due to product lifecycle timing.

The increase in revenue in fiscal 1999 in the above operating segments was partially offset 

by a decline in revenue from the OEM PostScript and Other segment of $72.2 million, or 

34%, compared to fiscal 1998. OEM PostScript licensing revenue experienced a decline 

in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998, primarily due to the ongoing weakness in the 

 monochrome laser printer market as a result of the following factors: loss of royalty  revenue 

from HP’s desktop monochrome laser printer division, which has been  incorporating a 

clone version of Adobe PostScript software into its products since the fall of 1997; a decline 

in the average selling price of monochrome laser printers; and an increase in the use of 

inkjet printers, resulting in weakness in the monochrome laser printer market. In addition, 

in fiscal 1998, we received $20.2 million in revenue in this segment from businesses we 

divested in the third quarter of fiscal 1998, resulting in a decline of revenue in fiscal 1999 

from the absence of these businesses. 

We categorize our geographic information into three major market regions: the Americas, 

EMEA, and Asia. In fiscal 2000 and fiscal 1999, revenue generated in the Americas, EMEA, 

and Asia represented 52%, 26%, and 22% of total revenue, respectively. 

Overall, revenue from our application products on the Windows® platform increased 39% 

in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999, and revenue from our application products on the 

Macintosh platform increased by 15% in fiscal 2000 over fiscal 1999. In fiscal 1999 com-

pared to fiscal 1998, revenue from our application products on the Windows platform 

increased 22%, and revenue from our application products on the Macintosh platform 

increased 21% during the same period. In fiscal 2000, the Windows and Macintosh plat-

forms accounted for 63% and 37%, respectively, of application products revenue, 

excluding platform-independent and UNIX® products, compared to 58% and 42%, respec-

tively, in both fiscal 1999 and fiscal 1998. We expect the trend towards the Windows 

platform to continue in the foreseeable future.

D I R E C T  C O S T S

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Direct costs  $ 87.3 (8)% $ 94.5 (6)% $ 101.0

Percentage of total revenue 6.9%  9.3%  11.3%

Direct costs include product packaging, third-party royalties, excess and obsolete inventory, 

and amortization related to  localization costs and acquired technologies.

Direct costs decreased in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue in fiscal 2000 

compared to fiscal 1999, primarily due to lower localization and royalty costs, as well as a 

reduction in material costs as a result of our ongoing cost improvement program. Direct 

costs also decreased in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue in fiscal 1999 com-

pared to fiscal 1998, primarily due to more effective inventory management, resulting in 

lower excess and obsolete inventory and lower material costs.

For fiscal 2001, we anticipate that gross margin will be approximately 93% of revenue.
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O P E R A T I N G  E X P E N S E S

Research and Development

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Research and development $ 240.2 22% $ 197.5 5% $ 188.3

Percentage of total revenue 19.0%  19.4%                   21.0%

Research and development expenses consist principally of salaries and benefits for 

software developers, contracted development efforts, related facilities costs, and expenses 

associated with computer equipment used in software development.

Research and development expenses increased $42.7 million, or 22%, in fiscal 2000 com-

pared to fiscal 1999, primarily due to higher incentive compensation expenses associated 

with the improvement in our financial performance in fiscal 2000 over fiscal 1999 and 

higher salaries as a result of headcount growth.

Research and development expenses increased $9.2 million, or 5%, in fiscal 1999 

compared to fiscal 1998, due to higher incentive compensation expenses. This increase 

was partially offset by a decline in salaries as a result of lower headcount and decreases in 

general office expenses and professional fees as a result of our fiscal 1998 restructuring 

program and other cost reduction efforts implemented at that time.

We believe that investments in research and development, including the recruiting and 

hiring of software developers, are critical to remain competitive in the marketplace and 

are directly related to continued timely development of new and enhanced products. We 

will continue to make significant investments in the development of our application 

 software products, including those targeted for the growing Internet market. We expect 

research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars in fiscal 2001. We are 

targeting research and development expenses in the first quarter of fiscal 2001 to be 18% 

of revenue. For the remainder of fiscal 2001, we are targeting research and development 

expenses to be 19% of revenue.

Sales and Marketing

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Sales and marketing  $ 401.2 22% $ 328.5 4% $ 315.5

Percentage of total revenue 31.7%  32.3%  35.3%

Sales and marketing expenses include salaries and benefits, sales commissions, travel 

expenses, and related facilities costs for our sales, marketing, customer support, and 

 distribution personnel. Sales and marketing expenses also include the costs of programs 

aimed at increasing revenue, such as advertising, trade shows, public relations, and other 

market development programs.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $72.7 million, or 22%, in fiscal 2000 compared to 

fiscal 1999 as a result of higher incentive compensation expenses and higher outsourced 

technical support and order management fees. In addition, sales and marketing expenses 

increased in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999 due to our focus on general corporate 

brand advertising, as well as higher marketing, public relations, and trade show activities 

associated with new product releases. 
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Sales and marketing expenses increased $13.0 million, or 4%, in fiscal 1999 compared to 

fiscal 1998 as a result of higher incentive compensation, advertising, promotional, and 

trade show expenses. The increase was partially offset by cost reduction initiatives related 

to the restructuring program implemented during the third quarter of fiscal 1998 that 

eliminated certain brand advertising campaigns and other marketing activities related to 

a divested business.

We expect sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars in fiscal 2001 to 

support investments in e-business and enhanced marketing activities. For the first quarter 

of fiscal 2001, our sales and marketing expense target is approximately 34% of revenue. 

For the remainder of fiscal 2001, we are targeting sales and marketing expenses to be 

approximately 33% of revenue. 

General and Administrative

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

General and administrative $ 116.5 12% $ 103.6 (13)% $ 118.6

Percentage of total revenue 9.2%  10.2%  13.3%

General and administrative expenses consist principally of salaries and benefits, travel 

expenses, and related facilities costs for the finance, human resources, legal, information 

services, and executive personnel of Adobe. General and administrative expenses also 

include outside legal and accounting fees, provision for bad debts, and expenses associated 

with computer equipment and software used in the administration of the business.

General and administrative expenses increased $13.0 million, or 12%, in fiscal 2000 com-

pared to fiscal 1999, primarily due to higher salaries as a result of increased headcount, 

and higher bad debt expense and legal fees. The increase was partially offset by decreases 

in professional fees and depreciation expense.

6

General and administrative expenses decreased $15.0 million, or 13%, in fiscal 1999 

 compared to fiscal 1998, reflecting the savings related to the restructuring programs 

implemented in fiscal 1999 and 1998. Additionally, the decrease is attributable to 

decreased legal fees and lower bad debt expense. These decreases were offset by an 

increase in incentive compensation expense primarily associated with the improvement 

in our financial performance in fiscal 1999 over the prior year and higher incentive com-

pensation targets.

We expect that general and administrative spending will slightly increase in absolute 

 dollars in fiscal 2001 to support ongoing administrative infrastructure needs. We have 

 targeted such expenditures to be approximately 9% of revenue in fiscal 2001.

Restructuring and Other Charges

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Restructuring and 
other charges  $ 5.6 (76)% $ 23.0 (40)% $ 38.2

Percentage of total revenue 0.4%  2.3%  4.3%

In fiscal 2000, restructuring and other charges consisted of $6.3 million of other charges 

relating to the disposal of certain equipment and one-time litigation-related expenses, and 

a credit of $0.7 million related to the fiscal 1999 and fiscal 1998 restructuring programs.

The $0.7 million credit was recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2000, as we revised our 

estimates of the total costs associated with the fiscal 1999 and 1998 restructuring programs. 

The credit primarily reflected lower than estimated severance and related charges attribut-

able to employees whose positions were eliminated as a result of the restructurings 

but who were able to find alternative employment within Adobe. The remaining credit was 

due to lower than expected charges related to vacating leased facilities. (For detailed 

 information, see Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.)



During fiscal 1999 and 1998, we implemented three different Board-approved restructuring 

programs. These separate restructuring programs were directly focused on improving our 

competitive position as well as enhancing Adobe’s allocation of resources. 

The two fiscal 1999 restructuring programs resulted in total charges of approximately 

$19.7 million, which included severance and related charges associated with the reduction 

in force and charges for vacating leased facilities. During fiscal 1999, we revised our esti-

mate of the total costs associated with the restructuring programs implemented during 

the year, resulting in an adjustment to the restructuring accrual of approximately $3.2 mil-

lion. The adjustment was due to lower than estimated severance and related charges 

attributable to employees whose positions were eliminated as a result of the restructurings 

but who were able to find alternative employment within Adobe, and to lower than 

expected charges related to vacating leased facilities. In addition, we recorded adjustments 

during fiscal 1999 related to prior-year restructuring programs in the amount of $1.9 mil-

lion. The $1.9 million adjustment was primarily due to both our success in terminating a 

lease agreement earlier than the contract term specified and the expiration of other lease 

termination costs for two facilities.

Other charges recorded in fiscal 1999 of $8.4 million included $2.0 million associated with 

the cancelation of a contract and $2.2 million for accelerated depreciation related to the 

adjustment of the useful life of certain assets as a result of decisions made by management 

as part of the restructuring program. Additionally, we incurred a nonrecurring compensa-

tion charge totaling $2.6 million for a terminated employee and incurred consulting fees 

of $1.6 million to assist in the restructuring of our operations.

The 1998 restructuring program was implemented to refocus our product development 

efforts and to eliminate management redundancies in the organization. In connection 

with this restructuring program, we recorded $38.2 million in restructuring charges, 

related to severance and related charges associated with the reduction in force, as well as 

the divestiture of two business units, charges for vacating leased facilities, and the 

 cancelation of certain contracts.

As of December 1, 2000, no obligations existed related to the fiscal 1999 and 1998 restruc-

turing programs.

Acquired In-Process Research and Development

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Acquired in-process research 
and development  $ 0.5 (87)% $ 3.6 N/A $  —

Percentage of total revenue —%  0.4%  —%

In fiscal 2000, we recorded $0.5 million of acquired in-process research and development 

related to our acquisition of Glassbook, Inc. (“Glassbook”). The acquisition was 

accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with Accounting 

Principles Board Opinion No. 16 (“APB 16”). Based on an independent appraiser’s valua-

tion, $0.5 million of the total $28.0 million purchase price was allocated to in-process 

research and development due to the state of the  development and the uncertainty of the 

technology and expensed upon acquisition.

Acquired in-process research and development of $3.6 million in fiscal 1999 is comprised 

of $3.0 million and $0.6 million associated with the acquisitions of Attitude Software, LLC 

(“Attitude Software”) and Photomerge Technology (“Photomerge”), respectively. The 

 following is a summary of the projects acquired in the acquisitions and the assumptions 

used in determining the value of the in-process research and development costs. 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, we acquired substantially all of the assets, con-

sisting of intellectual property, of Attitude Software. The acquisition was accounted for 
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using the purchase method of accounting in accordance with APB 16, and substantially all 

of the purchase price of $3.0 million cash was allocated to in-process research and 

 development and expensed at the time of acquisition. The ongoing project at Attitude 

Software at the time of the purchase included the development of the 3D Anarchy 

 authoring product. We purchased this technology to incorporate it into future versions of 

our existing Adobe products to further enhance the feature sets and user interface 

 contained within the  products. At the date we acquired Attitude Software, it was estimated 

that 50% of the development effort had been completed and that the remaining 50% of 

the development effort would take approximately 18 months to complete and would cost 

$1.8 million. The efforts required to complete the development of the technology primarily 

related to  additional design efforts to integrate the technology into several of Adobe’s 

products, finalization of coding, and completion testing. The value of the in-process tech-

nology was determined by estimating the projected net cash flows related to products the 

technology would be integrated into, including costs to complete the development of the 

technology and the future net revenues that may be earned from the products, excluding 

the value attributed to the existing technology with the products prior to the integration 

of the purchased technology. These cash flows were discounted back to their net present 

value using a discount rate of 20%, exclusive of the value attributable to the use of the 

 in-process technologies in future products. 

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, we acquired substantially all of the 

assets, consisting of intellectual property, of Photomerge. In connection with the acquisi-

tion of Photomerge, 100% of the purchase price, or $600,000 cash, was allocated to 

in-process research and development due to the state of completion and the uncertainty of 

the technology.

Amortization of Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Amortization of goodwill and
purchased intangibles  $ 7.0 45% $ 4.8 (38)% $ 7.7

Percentage of total revenue 0.6%  0.5%  0.9%

Amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles in fiscal 2000 and 1999 primarily 

related to the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of GoLive Systems, Inc. and a 

related partnership (together “GoLive Systems”) in December 1998. Amortization of 

goodwill and purchased intangibles was higher in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999 

 primarily due to the additional amortization related to the acquisition of Glassbook in 

September 2000. (For further information, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements.) 

N O N O P E R A T I N G  I N C O M E

Investment Gain

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Investment gain  $ 14.3 (84)% $ 88.9 493% $ 15.0

Percentage of total revenue 1.1%  8.8%  1.7%

Investment gain consists principally of realized gains or losses from direct investments as 

well as mark-to-market valuation adjustments for investments held by Adobe Incentive 

Partners, L.P. (“AIP”). 
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During fiscal 2000, we recorded investment gains related to the sale of a portion of our 

investment in Tumbleweed Communications Corp. (“Tumbleweed”) and Digimarc 

Corporation for $10.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively. Additionally, we recorded 

investment gains related to the mark-to-market valuation adjustment for AvantGo, Inc. 

totaling $13.0 million and other net gains related to various other Adobe Ventures invest-

ments activities totaling approximately $15.0 million. These gains were partially offset by 

investment losses related to the write-down of our investments in Engage, Inc.; eCircles, 

Inc.; Salon.com; and Impresse Corporation, totaling approximately $26.3 million. 

In fiscal 1999, we recorded a realized gain of $58.4 million related to the sale of our 

investment in Vignette Corporation. We also recorded investment gains from mark-to-

market adjustments totaling $17.8 million, $10.4 million, and $7.0 million related to 

investments in ESPS, Inc.; DigitalThink, Inc.; and Tumbleweed, respectively. These gains 

were partially offset by an investment loss of $5.2 million related to the acquisition of 

PointCast, Inc., a former investee of Adobe, by idealab!’s Launchpad Technologies, Inc. 

(“idealab!”). In connection with the acquisition, we exchanged our shares of PointCast, 

Inc. for approximately 542,000 shares of idealab! (which has since become InfoGate 

Inc.). Additionally, we recorded a net gain totaling $0.5 million related to mark-to-

market adjustments of various other Adobe Ventures investments.

In fiscal 1998, we recorded a realized gain of $6.7 million related to our investment in 

McQueen International Limited (“McQueen”), due to the acquisition of McQueen by 

Sykes Enterprises, Incorporated, a publicly traded company. In addition, we liquidated our 

investment in Siebel Systems, Incorporated (“Siebel”) through the distribution to our 

stockholders of approximately 165,000 shares of Siebel common stock as a dividend-in-

kind and the sale of our remaining Siebel shares. A gain of approximately $5.7 million was 

recognized on the transaction. The remaining net realized gain recorded in fiscal 1998   

represents valuation adjustments related to our venture investments held by AIP.

We are uncertain of future investment gains or losses as they are primarily dependent 

upon the operations of the underlying investee companies.

Interest and Other Income

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Interest and other income $ 21.3 (17)% $ 25.7 (6)% $ 27.4

Percentage of total revenue 1.7%  2.5%  3.1%

Interest and other income consists principally of interest earned on cash, cash equivalents, 

and short-term investments, as well as foreign exchange transaction gains and losses and 

realized gains or losses on the disposal of assets.

Interest and other income decreased $4.4 million, or 17%, in fiscal 2000 compared to  fiscal 

1999 as a result of more investments being made in tax-exempt securities, resulting in 

lower interest income on a comparative pretax basis. In fiscal 2000, we also recorded for-

eign exchange transaction losses compared to foreign exchange transaction gains in  fiscal 

1999. In addition, other income was lower in fiscal 2000, as fiscal 1999 included a $5.7 

 million gain related to the sale of a corporate facility in Edinburgh, Scotland, in connec-

tion with the restructuring program announced in the second quarter of fiscal 1999. 

The decrease in interest and other income in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998 was 

 primarily due to lower average cash and short-term investment balances, primarily as a 

result of cash used for stock repurchases. In addition, during fiscal 1999 more invest-

ments were made in tax-exempt securities. The decrease in interest and other income in 

fiscal 1999 was partially offset by a $5.7 million gain realized from the sale of a corporate 

facility in Edinburgh, Scotland, in connection with the restructuring program announced 

in the second quarter of fiscal 1999.
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We expect interest and other income to be approximately $5.0 million per quarter in 

 fiscal 2001. We expect interest income to increase slightly in fiscal 2001, even though we 

plan to continue to repurchase stock under our share repurchase program. However, we 

believe that the increase in interest income may be offset by foreign currency charges for 

 purchased options and market price volatility under our implementation of Statement 

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 (“SFAS 133”), “Accounting for Derivative 

Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Further, our cash balances could also be reduced in 

fiscal 2001 due to the purchase of software companies, products, or technologies that are 

complementary to our business.

I N C O M E  T A X  P R O V I S I O N

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Income tax provision  $ 155.9 14% $ 136.7 119% $ 62.6

Percentage of total revenue 12.3%  13.5%  7.0%

Effective tax rate  35.1%  36.5%  37.3%

Our effective tax rate decreased in fiscal 2000 from fiscal 1999, due to tax benefits associ-

ated with the restructuring of our international operations. 

Our effective tax rate decreased in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998, primarily due to 

a decrease in nondeductible goodwill amortization. 

We have targeted our effective tax rate to decrease in fiscal 2001 to approximately 34%.

F A C T O R S  T H A T  M A Y  A F F E C T  F U T U R E  R E S U LT S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

We believe that in the future our results of operations could be affected by various factors, 

including:

 • delays in shipment of our new products and major new versions of existing products

 • lack of market acceptance of new products and upgrades

• adverse changes in general economic conditions in any of the countries in which 

we do business, including the recent slow-down affecting the U.S. and other   

geographic areas

 • introduction of new products by major competitors

 • weakness in demand for application software and printers

 • lack of growth in worldwide personal computer and printer sales and downward 

sales price adjustments

 • renegotiation of royalty arrangements

 • consolidation in the OEM printer business

 • ongoing weakness in our printing business due to product transitions

 • industry transitions to new business and information delivery models

 • market risks associated with our equity investments (as discussed later under 

 “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk”)

We have stated that we are targeting at least 25% annual revenue growth in fiscal 2001. 

Additionally, for fiscal 2001 we have stated the following operating model targets: gross 

margin of 93%, operating profit margin of 32%, and general and administrative expenses at 

9% of revenue. For the first quarter of fiscal 2001, we have stated operating model targets for 

research and development expenses of 18% of revenue and sales and marketing expenses of 

34% of revenue; and for the remainder of fiscal 2001, research and development expenses of 

19% of revenue and sales and marketing expenses of 33% of revenue. We have also stated 
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that we expect our share count to increase three to four million per  quarter in fiscal 2001, 

that interest income is expected to be approximately $5.0 million per quarter in fiscal 

2001, and that we plan to hire 1,000 employees in fiscal 2001. However, our headcount 

increases will not reach this initially planned level due to adjustments in light of the 

recent slow-down in some geographic areas. Finally, we have  stated an effective tax rate 

target for fiscal 2001 of 34% and a days sales outstanding (“DSO”) target range of 40–45 days.

We use these targets to assist us in making decisions about our allocation of resources and 

investments, not as predictions of future results. The targets reflect a number of assump-

tions, including assumptions about:

 • product pricing and demand 

 • manufacturing costs and volumes 

 • the mix of application products and licensing revenue, full and upgrade products, 

distribution channels, and geographic distribution

 • substantial headcount increases

These and many other factors described in this report affect our financial performance and 

may cause our future results, including results for the current quarter, to vary materially 

from these targets. In particular, the recent slow-down in some geographic areas, primarily 

in the U.S., has affected all of our product segments and may adversely affect our ability to 

achieve our revenue target. The slow-down has also affected our hiring plans; we may hire 

significantly fewer than 1,000 employees during fiscal 2001 in light of this factor.

Our ability to develop and market products, including upgrades of current products that 

successfully adapt to changing customer needs, may also have an impact on our results of 

operations. Our ability to extend our core technologies into new applications and to 

 anticipate or respond to technological changes could affect our ability to develop these 

products. A portion of our future revenue will come from these new applications. Delays 

in product or upgrade introductions could cause a decline in our revenue, earnings, or 

stock price. We cannot determine the ultimate effect that these new products or upgrades 

will have on our revenue or results of operations.

The market for our graphics applications, particularly our Web publishing and consumer 

products, is intensely and increasingly competitive and is significantly affected by product 

introductions and market activities of industry competitors. Additionally, Microsoft 

Corporation (“Microsoft”) has increased its presence in the digital imaging/graphics 

 market; we believe that, due to Microsoft’s market dominance, any new Microsoft digital 

imaging products will be highly competitive with our products. If competing new 

 products achieve widespread acceptance, our operating results would suffer.

We generally offer our application-based products on Macintosh, Windows, and UNIX 

platforms, and we generally offer our server-based products on the Linux® platform as 

well as these three platforms. To the extent that there is a slow-down of customer pur-

chases of personal computers on either the Windows or Macintosh platform or in general, 

our business could be harmed. 

We distribute our application products primarily through distributors, resellers, and 

retailers (collectively referred to as “distributors”). A significant amount of our revenue 

for application products is from two distributors. We have revised our channel program 

to reduce the overall number of our distributors worldwide and focus our channel efforts 

on larger distributors. This revision of the channel program has resulted in an increase in 

our dependence on a smaller number of distributors selling through a larger amount of 

our products. Additionally, our goal is to increase our direct distribution of our products 

to end users through our online store located on our Web site at www.adobe.com. Any 

such increase in our direct revenue efforts will place us in increased competition with our 

channel distributors and with newer types of distribution of our products by online, 

Internet-based resellers of our products. While we anticipate that the restructuring and 

streamlining of our product distribution channels and the increase in the scope of our 

direct sales efforts will eventually improve our business by decreasing discounts or rebate 

programs provided to distributors, decreasing product returns, and shortening inventory 

cycles, these changes could instead seriously harm our business.
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In addition, we continue to expand into third-party distribution channels, including 

VARs and systems integrators, in our effort to further broaden our customer base. As a 

result, the financial health of these third parties and our continuing relationships with 

them are becoming more important to our success. Some of these companies are thinly 

capitalized and may be unable to withstand changes in business conditions. Our business 

could be seriously harmed if the financial condition of some of these third parties sub-

stantially weakens or if our relationships with them deteriorate. Also, as we seek to further 

broaden our customer base in the corporate business and consumer markets, we may not 

successfully adapt our application software distribution channels, which could cause our 

operating results to suffer. We could experience decreases in average selling prices and 

some transitions in our distribution channels that could seriously harm our business. 

We currently rely on three manufacturers of our products, each located in a different 

region. If a manufacturer terminates its relationship with us or if our supply from a 

 manufacturer is interrupted or terminated for any other reason, we may not have enough 

time or be able to replace the supply of products manufactured by that manufacturer to 

avoid harm to our business. 

Revenue from our OEM PostScript and Other segment experienced a 5% decline in fiscal 

2000 compared to fiscal 1999, primarily as a result of a decline in revenue from the licens-

ing of Adobe PostScript technology. We expect this trend to continue, with this revenue 

declining a further 10% during fiscal 2001 from fiscal 2000, and we believe that our 

 financial results could be harmed if it decreases further. The ongoing weakness in the 

monochrome laser printer market as a result of the decline in average selling prices of 

monochrome laser printers and the increasing use of inkjet printers was a factor causing 

the revenue decline. In addition, the loss of royalty revenue from HP’s desktop 

 monochrome laser printer division, which has been incorporating a clone version of 

Adobe PostScript technology in some printers, has resulted in lower licensing revenue to 

us over the past three years. Even though we continue to work with HP printer operations 

to incorporate Adobe PostScript and other technologies into other HP products, we 

expect continued lower revenue in this segment from HP. If other significant partners 

also decide to incorporate a clone version instead of Adobe PostScript technology, it 

could seriously harm our business. Further, OEM partners on occasion seek to renegoti-

ate their royalty arrangements. We evaluate these requests on a case-by-case basis. If an 

agreement is not reached, a customer may decide to pursue other options, which could 

result in lower licensing revenue for us.

We are currently experiencing a slow-down in certain geographic market areas, primarily 

in the U.S. We attribute this slow-down, which is affecting all of our product segments, to 

weakening economic conditions. In addition, from the end of fiscal 1997 through the first 

quarter of fiscal 1999, we experienced a decline in revenue from the Japanese market due 

to a weak Japanese computer market and general economic conditions in Japan. 

Although revenue from our Japanese operation has increased since that time, these 

adverse economic conditions in the U.S. and other geographic markets may continue in 

the short term, and they may continue to adversely affect our revenue and earnings. 

Although there were also adverse conditions in other countries, the countries affected 

 represent a much smaller portion of our revenue and thus have less impact on our 

 operational results. 

Although we implemented two restructurings of our business during fiscal 1999, resulting in a 

collective workforce reduction of 9%, we plan to continue to invest in certain areas, which 

will require us to hire a significant number of additional employees. Competition for high-

quality personnel, especially highly skilled engineers, is extremely intense. Our ability to 

effectively manage this growth will require us to continue to improve our operational and 

financial controls and information management systems, and to attract, retain, motivate, 

and manage employees effectively; otherwise our business could be seriously harmed. 
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The Internet market is rapidly evolving and is characterized by an increasing number of 

market entrants that have introduced or developed products addressing authoring and 

communication over the Internet. As is typical in the case of a new and evolving industry, 

demand and market acceptance for recently introduced products and services are subject 

to a high level of uncertainty. The software industry addressing authoring and communica-

tions over the Internet is still developing. Standards defining Web graphics have not yet 

been finally adopted. In addition, new models for licensing software will be needed to 

accommodate new information delivery practices. Moreover, critical issues concerning the 

commercial use of the Internet (including security, reliability, ease of use and access, cost, 

and quality of service) remain unresolved and may affect the growth of Internet use, 

together with the software standards and electronic media employed in such markets. 

We have stated that we intend to increase our investment in e-business and enhanced 

 marketing activities in an effort to achieve revenue growth, but we can provide no assur-

ance that increased investment in this new market will result in increased revenue.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue and operating income from our customers 

located in Europe, Japan, Asia Pacific, and Latin America. We generally experience lower 

revenue from our European operations in the third quarter because many customers 

reduce their purchasing activities in the summer months. Additionally, we are uncertain 

whether the recent weakness experienced in the Asia Pacific and Latin America markets 

will continue in the foreseeable future due to possible currency devaluation and liquidity 

problems in these regions. While most of the revenue of our European subsidiaries has in 

the past been denominated in U.S. dollars, in the first quarter of fiscal 2001 we began to 

denominate revenue in euros in certain European countries. In addition, the majority of 

our revenue derived from Japan is denominated in yen, and the majority of all our subsid-

iaries’ operating expenses are denominated in their local currencies. As a result, our 

operating results are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. To date, 

the financial impact of such fluctuations has not been significant. Our hedging policy 

attempts to mitigate some of these risks, based on our best judgment of the appropriate 

trade-offs among risk, opportunity, and expense. We have established a hedging program 

to hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, primarily of the 

Japanese yen and the euro. We are currently reviewing our hedging program and will 

make adjustments based on our best judgment. Our hedging program is not comprehen-

sive, and our program may not offset more than a portion of the adverse financial impact 

resulting from unfavorable movement in foreign currency exchange rates.

In connection with the enforcement of our own intellectual property rights or in connec-

tion with disputes relating to the validity or alleged infringement of third-party rights, we 

have been, are currently, and may in the future be subject to complex, protracted litigation 

as part of our policy to vigorously defend our intellectual property rights. Intellectual 

 property litigation is typically very costly and can be disruptive to our business operations 

by diverting the attention and energies of management and key technical personnel. 

Although we have successfully defended or resolved past litigation, we may not prevail in 

any ongoing or future litigation. Adverse decisions in such litigation could have negative 

results, including subjecting us to significant liabilities, requiring us to seek licenses from 

others, preventing us from manufacturing or licensing certain of our products, or causing 

severe disruptions to our operations or the markets in which we compete, any one of 

which could seriously harm our business.

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America. These principles are subject to interpretation by 

the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “AICPA”), the Securities and 

Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and various bodies formed to interpret and  create 

appropriate accounting policies. A change in these policies can have a significant effect 
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on our reported results and may even affect the reporting of transactions completed 

before a change is announced. Accounting policies affecting many other aspects of our 

business, including:

 • rules relating to software revenue recognition

 • purchase and pooling-of-interests accounting for business combinations

 • the valuation of in-process research and development

 • employee stock purchase plans 

 • stock option grants 

 • goodwill amortization

have recently been revised or are under review by one or more of these groups. Changes 

to these rules or the questioning of current practices may have a significant adverse effect 

on our reported financial results or in the way in which we conduct our business.

Due to the factors noted earlier, our future earnings and stock price may be subject to 

 significant volatility, particularly on a quarterly basis. Any shortfall in revenue or earnings, 

or any delay in the release of any product or upgrade, compared to analysts’ or investors’ 

expectations, could cause, and has caused in the past, an immediate and significant 

decline in the trading price of our common stock. Additionally, we may not learn of such 

shortfalls or delays until late in the fiscal quarter, which could result in an even more 

immediate and greater decline in the trading price of our common stock. Finally, we 

 participate in a highly dynamic industry. In addition to factors specific to us, changes in 

analysts’ earnings estimates for us or our industry and factors affecting the corporate envi-

ronment, our industry, or the securities markets in general will often result in significant 

volatility of our common stock price.

R E C E N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P R O N O U N C E M E N T S

In June 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) implemented SFAS 

133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS 

137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—Deferral of the 

Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133,” and SFAS 138, “Accounting for Certain 

Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.” We adopted SFAS 133 beginning 

December 2, 2000. SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for deriva-

tive financial instruments and hedging activities and requires us to recognize all 

derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure them at fair 

value. Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value would be accounted for 

depending on the use of the derivative and whether it is designated and qualifies for 

hedge accounting. The adoption of SFAS 133 is not expected to result in any material 

transition adjustment to earnings in the first quarter of fiscal 2001.

In December 1999, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”), 

“Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” SAB 101 summarizes certain of the SEC’s 

views in applying accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America to revenue recognition in financial statements. In March 2000, the SEC issued 

SAB 101A, which delayed the implementation date of SAB 101. In June 2000, the SEC 

issued SAB 101B, which further delayed the implementation date of SAB 101. We adopted 

SAB 101 beginning December 2, 2000. The adoption of SAB 101 did not have a material 

impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In March 2000, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 44 (“FIN 44”), “Accounting 

for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation—an Interpretation of APB No. 

25.” FIN 44 clarifies the application of APB 25 for certain issues, including (a) the 

 definition of employee for purposes of applying APB 25, (b) the criteria for determining 

whether a plan qualifies as a noncompensatory plan, (c) the accounting consequence of 
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various modifications to the terms of a previously fixed stock option or award, and (d) the 

accounting for an exchange of stock compensation awards in a business combination. 

FIN 44 was effective July 1, 2000, except for the provisions that relate to modifications that 

directly or indirectly reduce the exercise price of an award and the definition of an 

employee, which were effective after December 15, 1998. The adoption of FIN 44 did not 

have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In March 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force (the “EITF”) published its consensus on 

Issue No. 00-2, “Accounting for Web Sit e Development Costs,” which requires that costs 

incurred during the development of Web site applications and infrastructure, involving 

developing software to operate the Web site, including graphics that affect the “look and 

feel” of the Web page and all costs relating to software used to operate a Web site, should 

be accounted for under Statement of Position 98-1 (“SOP 98-1”), “Accounting for the 

Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” However, if a plan 

exists or is being developed to market the software externally, the costs relating to the 

 software should be accounted for pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting 

Standards No. 86 (“SFAS 86”), “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be 

Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.” We adopted Issue No. 00-2 in our fourth quarter of 

fiscal 2000. The adoption of Issue No. 00-2 did not have a material impact on our financial 

 position or results of operations.

In March 2000, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-3, “Application of AICPA 

Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition to Arrangements That 

Include the Right to Use Software Stored on Another Entity’s Hardware.” The Issue 

states that a software element covered by Statement of Position 97-2 (“SOP 97-2”) is 

only present in a hosting arrangement if the customer has the contractual right to take 

possession of the software at any time during the hosting period without significant 

 penalty and it is feasible for the customer to either run the software on its own hardware 

or contract with another party unrelated to the vendor to host the software. We do not 

expect the adoption of Issue No. 00-3 to have a material impact on our financial 

 position or results of operations.

In March 2000, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-8, “Accounting by a 

Grantee for an Equity Instrument to Be Received in Conjunction with Providing Goods 

or Services.” Issue No. 00-8 addresses the date to be used by the grantee to measure the 

fair value of those equity instruments for revenue recognition purposes for transactions 

in which an entity provides goods or services in exchange for equity instruments. In addi-

tion, it addresses how the grantee should account for an increase in fair value as a result  

of an adjustment as revenue for transactions in which any of the terms of the equity 

instruments are subject to adjustment after the measurement date. Issue No. 00-8 applies 

to all grants and to modifications of existing grants that occur after March 16, 2000. The 

adoption of Issue No. 00-8 did not have a material impact on our financial position or 

results of operations.

In May 2000, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-14, “Accounting for Coupons, 

Rebates, and Discounts.” Issue No. 00-14 addresses the recognition, measurement, and 

income statement classification for sales incentives offered voluntarily by a vendor 

 without charge to customers that can be used in, or that are exercisable by a customer 

as a result of, a single exchange transaction. We adopted Issue No. 00-14 beginning 

December 2, 2000. The adoption of Issue No. 00-14 did not have a material impact on our 

financial position or results of operations.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

 2 0 0 0  C H A N G E   1 9 9 9  C H A N G E  1 9 9 8

Cash, cash equivalents, and 
short-term investments $ 679.9 36% $ 498.7 83% $ 272.5

Working capital  $ 563.3 59% $ 355.4 73% $ 205.0

Stockholders’ equity  $ 752.5 47% $ 512.2 (1)% $ 516.4

Our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments consist principally of money 

 market mutual funds, municipal bonds, United States government agency securities, and 

marketable equity securities. All of our cash equivalents and short-term investments are 

classified as available-for-sale under the provisions of SFAS 115, “Accounting for Certain 

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” The securities are carried at fair value with 

the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included in accumulated other comprehensive 

income, which is reflected as a separate component of stockholders’ equity.

Our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments increased $181.1 million, or 

36%, in fiscal 2000, primarily due to cash generated from operations of $444.6 million 

and  proceeds from the issuance of treasury stock related to the exercise of stock options 

under our stock option plans and sale of stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

of $119.1 million. Other sources of cash include the proceeds from the sale of equity 

securities and the sale of a building in the amounts of $17.8 million and $5.4 million, 

respectively. In addition, short-term investments increased due to a reclassification of 

$73.3 million of investments previously classified as long-term to short-term. 

These increases were partially offset by the purchase of treasury stock in the amount of 

$255.5 million, the purchase of long-term investments and other assets for $59.1 million, 

the purchase of Glassbook for $24.4 million, capital expenditures of $29.8 million, and 

the payment of dividends totaling $12.0 million. In addition, our short-term investments 

decreased as a result of mark-to-market adjustments totaling $74.2 million, the write-down 

of certain short-term marketable equity investments totaling $18.4 million, and the sale of 

marketable equity investments with a cost basis of $5.1 million. 

We expect to continue our investing activities, including expenditures for computer 

 systems for research and development, sales and marketing, product support, and 

administrative staff. Furthermore, cash reserves may be used to purchase treasury stock 

and acquire software companies, products, or technologies that are complementary to 

our business. 

Under our existing plan to repurchase shares to offset issuances under employee stock 

plans, we repurchased approximately 7.2 million, 22.4 million, and 1.4 million shares in 

fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively, at a cost of $255.5 million, $448.7 million, and 

$16.8 million, respectively.

In April 1999, Adobe’s Board of Directors authorized, subject to certain business and 

 market conditions, the purchase of up to an additional 5.0 million shares of our common 

stock over a two-year period. This new stock repurchase program was in addition to an 

existing program whereby we have been authorized to repurchase shares to offset 

 issuances under employee stock option and stock purchase plans. No purchases have been 

made under the 5.0 million share repurchase program.

In September 1997, Adobe’s Board of Directors authorized, subject to certain business and 

market conditions, the purchase of up to 60.0 million shares of our common stock over a 

two-year period. This program was completed in the first quarter of fiscal 1999. Under 

this program, we repurchased approximately 3.3 million shares in fiscal 1999, 40.7 million 

shares in fiscal 1998, and 16.0 million shares in fiscal 1997, at a cost of $30.5 million, 

$362.4 million, and $188.6 million, respectively.
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We have paid cash dividends on our common stock each quarter since the second quarter 

of fiscal 1988. Adobe’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend on our common stock 

of $0.0125 per common share for each of the four quarters in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998. 

The declaration of future dividends, whether in cash or in-kind, is within the discretion of 

Adobe’s Board of Directors and will depend on business conditions, our results of opera-

tions and financial condition, and other factors.

To facilitate our stock repurchase program, we sold put warrants in a series of private place-

ments in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998. Each put warrant entitles the holder to sell one share 

of our common stock to us at a specified price. Approximately 8.6 million, 12.0 million, 

and 16.0 million put warrants were written in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. At 

December 1, 2000, approximately 2.9 million put warrants were outstanding that expire on 

various dates through July 2001 and have exercise prices ranging from $58.83 to $67.53 per 

share, with an average exercise price of $62.45 per share.

In addition, in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, we purchased call options that entitle us to buy 

5.1 million, 5.8 million, and 6.4 million shares, respectively, of our common stock. At 

December 1, 2000, approximately 1.8 million call options were outstanding that expire on 

various dates through April 2001 and have exercise prices ranging from $63.60 to $73.00 

per share, with an average exercise price of $67.51 per share. 

Our put and call option contracts provide that we, at our option, can settle with physical 

delivery or net shares equal to the difference between the exercise price and the value of 

the option as determined by the contract.

We believe that existing cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments, together with 

cash generated from operations, will provide sufficient funds for us to meet our operating 

cash requirements in the foreseeable future.

C O M M I T M E N T S

Our principal commitments as of December 1, 2000 consisted of obligations under operating 

leases, line of credit agreements, venture investing activities, and various service agreements. 

In August 1999, we entered into an operating lease agreement for two corporate head-

quarters office facilities in San Jose, California. The lease is for a period of five years and is 

subject to standard covenants including financial ratios. We have an option to purchase 

the buildings at any time during the term for an amount equal to the total investment of 

the lessor. At the end of the lease term, we may exercise the purchase option or, with the 

mutual agreement of the lessor, renew the term of the lease. In addition to these possibili-

ties, at the end of the term, we may elect to have the buildings sold to an unrelated third 

party. In such case, we are obligated to use our best efforts to arrange for such a sale and 

are obligated to pay the lessor the difference between the total investment in the buildings 

and the net sales proceeds, provided, however, that in no event would we be required to 

pay more than a maximum guaranteed residual amount as set forth in the lease. In the 

event we default during the term of the lease, the lessor could require us to purchase the 

buildings for an amount equal to our option price. As of December 1, 2000, we were in 

compliance with all financial covenants.

In August 1999, we entered into a $200.0 million unsecured revolving line of credit with a 

group of 15 banks for general corporate purposes, subject to certain financial covenants. 

One-half of the facility expired in August 2000, and the other $100.0 million expires in 

August 2002. We renewed, for one year, the $100.0 million unsecured revolving line of 

credit that expired in August 2000. Outstanding balances accrue interest at London 

Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin that is based on our financial ratios. The 

terms, covenants, and margins of the new facility are substantially the same as the expired 

facility. There were no outstanding balances on either credit facility as of December 1, 2000. 

In addition, as of December 1, 2000, we were in compliance with all financial covenants.
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We believe that if either or both of the lines of credit are canceled or amounts are not 

available under the lines, it would not substantially harm our financial results, liquidity, 

or capital resources.

Under the terms of the lines of credit and the lease agreement, we may pay cash dividends 

unless an event of default has occurred or we do not meet certain financial ratios.

D E R I V A T I V E S  A N D  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S

( Q U A N T I T A T I V E  A N D  Q U A L I T A T I V E  D I S C L O S U R E S  A B O U T  M A R K E T  R I S K )

Foreign Currency Hedging Instruments  We transact business in various foreign currencies, 

primarily in certain European countries and Japan. Accordingly, we are subject to expo-

sure from movements in foreign currency exchange rates. This exposure is primarily 

related to yen denominated licenses in Japan and local currency denominated operating 

expenses in Europe, where we license primarily in U.S. dollars. Beginning in the first quar-

ter of fiscal 2001, we began to denominate revenue in euros in certain European countries.

Our Japanese operating expenses are in yen, which mitigates a portion of the exposure 

related to yen denominated licenses in Japan. In addition, we hedge firmly committed 

transactions using primarily forward contracts. We also hedge a percentage of forecasted 

international revenue with purchased options. At December 1, 2000, total outstanding 

contracts included $23.2 million in foreign currency forward exchange contracts and 

purchased put option contracts with a notional value of $43.3 million. All contracts 

expire at various times through March 2001. Our hedging policy is designed to reduce 

the impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements, and we expect any gain or loss 

in the hedging portfolio to be offset by a corresponding gain or loss in the underlying 

exposure being hedged.

A sensitivity analysis was performed on our hedging portfolio as of December 1, 2000. 

This sensitivity analysis was based on a modeling technique that measures the hypothetical 

market value resulting from a 10% and 15% shift in the value of exchange rates relative to 

the U.S. dollar. An increase in the value of the U.S. dollar (and a corresponding decrease in 

the value of the hedged foreign currency asset) would lead to an increase in the fair value 

of our financial hedging instruments by $5.5 million and $7.4 million, respectively. 

Conversely, a decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar would result in a decrease in the fair 

value of these financial instruments by $3.4 million and $4.7 million, respectively. 

Our accounting policies for these instruments are based on our designation of such 

instruments as hedging transactions. We recognize gains and losses associated with the 

mark-to-market of outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts that are designated 

and effective as hedges of existing transactions, for which a firm commitment has been 

attained, as other income in the current period. Corresponding gains and losses on the 

foreign currency denominated transactions being hedged are recognized as other income 

in that same period. In this manner, the gains and losses on foreign currency denomi-

nated transactions will be offset by the gains and losses on the foreign currency contracts. 

We do not anticipate any material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, 

results of operations, or cash flows as a result of these instruments. 

We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative trading purposes, nor do 

we hedge our foreign currency exposure in a manner that entirely offsets the effects of 

changes in foreign exchange rates.
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Beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2001, we began to denominate revenue in euros in 

certain European countries. As a rule, we do not use financial instruments to hedge local 

currency denominated operating expenses in Europe where a natural hedge exists. For 

example, in many countries the local currency revenue from product upgrades substan-

tially offsets the local currency denominated operating expenses. We assess the need to 

utilize financial instruments to hedge European currency exposure on an ongoing basis.

We regularly review our hedging program and may as part of this review determine at any 

time to change our hedging program.

Equity Investments  We are exposed to equity price risk on our portfolio of equity securi-

ties. As of December 1, 2000, our total equity holdings in publicly traded companies were 

valued at $90.2 million. We believe that it is reasonably possible that the prices of these 

securities could experience adverse changes in the near term. For example, as a result of 

recent market price volatility of our publicly traded equity investments, we experienced a 

$20.2 million after-tax unrealized gain during the third quarter of fiscal 2000 and a $38.5 

million after-tax unrealized loss during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000 on these invest-

ments. We have a policy in place to review our equity holdings on a regular basis to 

evaluate the economic viability of these publicly traded companies, which includes, but is 

not limited to, reviewing each of the companies’ cash positions, revenue models, stock 

price activity over the past six months, and future prospects. If we believe that an other-

than-temporary impairment exists in one of our equity investments in these publicly 

traded companies, it is our policy to write down these equity investments to the market 

value on the last day of our reporting period.

In addition, we have investments in several privately held companies, many of which can 

still be considered in the start-up or development stages. These investments are inher-

ently risky, as the market for the technologies or products they have under development 

are typically in the early stages and may never materialize. We could lose a substantial 

part of or our entire initial investment in these companies. 

The following table represents the potential decrease in fair values of our public equity 

investments that are sensitive to changes in the stock market. Stock price fluctuations of 

minus 50%, 35%, and 15% were selected based on the probability of their occurrence.

Potential Decrease to the Value of Securities Given X% Decrease in Each Stock’s Price

    F A I R  V A L U E  A S   

    O F  D E C E M B E R  1  

 ( 5 0 % )  ( 3 5 % )  ( 1 5 % )  2 0 0 0

Corporate equities $ (45.1) $ (31.6) $ (13.5) $ 90.2

We also have a policy to hedge a certain portion of our equity holdings in publicly traded 

companies. From time to time, we have entered into forward contracts to sell portions of 

our equity holdings in future periods. These forward contracts are accounted for at fair 

market value offsetting changes in the value of the equities being hedged. As of December 

1, 2000, the value of our forward contracts hedging equity securities was $10.7 million. 
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An increase (decrease) in the market value of the underlying equities will result in a 

 corresponding decrease (increase) in the value of the forward contract. The following 

table represents the potential decrease to the value of the forward contracts given a per-

centage change in the underlying equities.

Potential Decrease to the Value of the Forward Contracts Given X% Increase in the Stock 

Price of the Underlying Equities

   F A I R  V A L U E  A S

   O F  D E C E M B E R  1

 5 0 %  2 5 %  2 0 0 0

Forward contracts  $ (2.6)  $ (1.3)  $ 10.7

Fixed Income Investments  At December 1, 2000, we had an investment portfolio of fixed 

income securities, including those classified as cash equivalents, of $368.3 million. These 

securities are subject to interest rate fluctuations. An increase in interest rates could 

adversely affect the market value of our fixed income securities. 

A sensitivity analysis was performed on our investment portfolio as of December 1, 2000. 

This sensitivity analysis was based on a modeling technique that measures the hypothetical 

market value changes that would result from a parallel shift in the yield curve of plus 50, 

100, or 150 basis points over six-month and twelve-month time horizons. The market 

value changes for a 50, 100, or 150-basis point increase in short-term treasury security 

yields were not material due to the limited duration of our portfolio.

We do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio to manage 

interest rate risk. We do, however, limit our exposure to interest rate and credit risk by 

establishing and strictly monitoring clear policies and guidelines for our fixed income 

portfolios. At the present time, the maximum duration of all portfolios is limited to 2.3 

years. The guidelines also establish credit quality standards, limits on exposure to one 

issue, issuer, as well as the type of instrument. Due to the limited duration and credit risk 

criteria established in our guidelines, we do not expect the exposure to market and credit 

risk to be material.

Facility Leases  We are exposed to interest rate risk associated with leases of our facilities 

whose payments are tied to the LIBOR and have evaluated the hypothetical changes in 

lease obligations arising from selected hypothetical changes in the LIBOR. Market 

changes reflected immediate hypothetical parallel shifts in the LIBOR curve of plus or 

minus 50, 100, and 150 basis points for a twelve-month period. Based on this analysis, 

such charges would not be material to our results of operations or financial position.



Consolidated Balance Sheets (In thousands, except per share data)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

       D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3

       2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9

A S S E T S

Current assets

 Cash and cash equivalents      $ 236,866 $ 171,145

 Short-term investments      442,987 327,571

 Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $8,788 and $5,170, respectively  140,514 68,371

 Other receivables       19,599 10,395

 Deferred income taxes       23,460 36,185

 Other current assets       14,486 9,348

 Total current assets       877,912 623,015

Property and equipment, net      64,268 69,138

Other assets       127,236 111,706

        $ 1,069,416 $ 803,859

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  S T O C K H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

Current liabilities

 Trade and other payables      $ 40,280 $ 35,692

 Accrued expenses       181,861 150,902

 Accrued restructuring charges      — 8,675

 Income taxes payable       74,768 56,684

 Deferred revenue       17,696 15,676

 Total current liabilities      314,605 267,629

Deferred income taxes       2,267 24,021

Stockholders’ equity

 Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 2,000 shares authorized; none issued   — —

 Common stock, $0.0001 par value; Authorized: 500,000 shares; Issued: 295,764 shares in 2000 and 1999; and additional paid-in capital  530,801 369,057

 Retained earnings       1,172,504 896,239

 Accumulated other comprehensive income     (698) 40,332

 Treasury stock, at cost (54,818 and 58,686 shares in 2000 and 1999, respectively), net of reissuances  (950,063) (793,419)

  Total stockholders’ equity        752,544 512,209

        $ 1,069,416 $ 803,859
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Consolidated Statements of Income (In thousands, except per share data)

      D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D   2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Revenue      $ 1,266,378 $ 1,015,434 $ 894,791

Direct costs      87,255 94,540 101,034

Gross profi t      1,179,123 920,894 793,757

Operating expenses:

 Research and development     240,212 197,476 188,261

 Sales and marketing      401,188 328,505 315,544

 General and administrative     116,528 103,622 118,615

 Restructuring and other charges     5,629 23,028 38,245

 Amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles    7,013 4,830 7,745

 Acquired in-process research and development    470 3,580 —

Total operating expenses      771,040 661,041 668,410

Operating income      408,083 259,853 125,347

Nonoperating income, net:

 Investment gain, net      14,345 88,891 14,994

 Interest and other income     21,311 25,683 27,353

Total nonoperating income, net     35,656 114,574 42,347

Income before income taxes     443,739 374,427 167,694

Income tax provision      155,931 136,676 62,550

Net income      $ 287,808 $ 237,751 $ 105,144

Basic net income per share     $ 1.21 $ 0.98 $ 0.40

Shares used in computing basic net income per share    238,292 241,572 265,732

Diluted net income per share     $ 1.13 $ 0.92 $ 0.39

Shares used in computing diluted net income per share    255,774 258,410 271,896

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (In thousands)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. (continued)

     A C C U M U L AT E D

 C O M M O N  S T O C K  A N D     O T H E R  

 A D D I T I O N A L  PA I D - I N  C A P I TA L  R E TA I N E D   C O M P R E H E N S I V E  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  T R E A S U R Y  S T O C K

 S H A R E S   A M O U N T  E A R N I N G S  I N C O M E  I N C O M E  S H A R E S  A M O U N T  T O TA L

Balances as of November 28, 1997 295,764 $ 291,281 $ 663,861 — $    (1,030) (20,704) $ (238,688) $ 715,424

Comprehensive income:

 Net income — — 105,144 $ 105,144 —  —  —  105,144

 Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

 Net unrealized loss on investments, net of taxes of ($1,867) — — — (2,767) (2,767) — — (2,767)

 Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — 1,918 1,918 — — 1,918

 Other comprehensive loss — — — (849) — — — —

Comprehensive income, net of tax — — — $ 104,295 — — — —

Tax benefi t from employee stock option plans — 12,595 — — — — — 12,595

Stock compensation expense — 215 — — — — 2,298 2,513

Dividends declared — — (12,962) — — — — (12,962)

Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — (42,052) (379,203) (379,203)

Reissuance of treasury stock 
under employee stock and stock option plans   — — (23,313) — — 10,556 94,248 70,935

Proceeds from sale of put warrants — 2,768 — — — — — 2,768

Balances as of November 27, 1998 295,764  306,859  732,730 —     (1,879) (52,200)  (521,345)  516,365

Comprehensive income:

 Net income — — 237,751 $ 237,751 — — — 237,751

 Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

 Net unrealized gain on investments, net of taxes of $26,698 — — — 42,808 42,808 — — 42,808

 Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (597) (597) — — (597)

 Other comprehensive income — — — 42,211 — — — —

Comprehensive income, net of tax — — — $ 279,962 — — — —

Tax benefi t from employee stock option plans — 58,478 — — — — — 58,478

Stock compensation expense — 2,742 — — — — 2,530 5,272

Dividends declared — — (12,623) — — — — (12,623)

Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — (26,212) (479,161) (479,161)

Reissuance of treasury stock 
under employee stock and stock option plans — __ (61,619) — — 19,726 204,557 142,938

Proceeds from sale of put warrants — 978 — — — — — 978

Balances as of December 3, 1999 295,764 $ 369,057 $ 896,239 — $   40,332 (58,686) $ (793,419) $ 512,209
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued) (In thousands) 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

      A C C U M U L AT E D

 C O M M O N  S T O C K  A N D      O T H E R    

 A D D I T I O N A L  PA I D - I N  C A P I TA L  R E TA I N E D   C O M P R E H E N S I V E  C O M P R E H E N S I V E    T R E A S U R Y  S T O C K  

 S H A R E S  A M O U N T  E A R N I N G S  I N C O M E  I N C O M E  S H A R E S  A M O U N T  T O TA L

Balances as of December 3, 1999 295,764 $ 369,057 $    896,239 — $ 40,332 (58,686) $ (793,419) $ 512,209

Comprehensive income:

 Net income — — 287,808 $ 287,808 — — — 287,808

 Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

 Net unrealized loss on investments, net of taxes of $24,073 — — — (38,485) (38,485) — — (38,485)

 Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (2,545) (2,545) — — (2,545)

 Other comprehensive loss — — — (41,030) — — — —

Comprehensive income, net of tax — — — $ 246,778 — — — —

Tax benefi t from employee stock option plans — 124,922 — — — — — 124,922

Stock compensation expense — 10,896 — — — — 5,603 16,499

Dividends declared — — (11,543) — — — — (11,543)

Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — (7,184) (255,456) (255,456)

Reissuance of treasury stock 
under employee stock and stock option plans — 25,926 — — — 11,052 93,209 119,135

Balances as of December 1, 2000 295,764 $ 530,801 $ 1,172,504 — $    (698) (54,818) $ (950,063) $ 752,544



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (In thousands)

      D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7  

Y E A R S  E N D E D       2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Cash fl ows from operating activities:

 Net income      $ 287,808 $ 237,751 $ 105,144

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

 Depreciation and amortization     43,275 50,770 56,264

 Deferred income taxes     1,398 694 (6,774)

 Provision for losses on receivables     7,140 (3,319) 3,336

 Tax benefi t from employee stock option plans    124,922 58,478 12,595

 Gains of Adobe Incentive Partners     (33,258) (30,600) (2,365)

 Loss on write-down of investments     26,342 — —

 Gains on sales of equity securities     (12,660) (59,377) (12,972)

 Gain on sale of buildings     (1,052) (5,729) —

 Stock compensation expense     16,499 5,272 2,513

 Noncash restructuring and other charges    1,011 14,379 9,077

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

 Receivables      (88,487) 65,733 (14,390)

 Other current assets     (5,407) 842 6,886

 Trade and other payables     4,588 (12,989) (8,461)

 Accrued expenses     46,760 21,265 32,947

 Accrued restructuring charges     (8,003) (14,571) 3,914

 Income taxes payable     31,730 1,257 17,125

 Deferred revenue     2,020 4,343 (1,370)

Net cash provided by operating activities     444,626 334,199 203,469

Cash fl ows from investing activities:

 Purchases of short-term investments     (443,875) (270,960) (1,278,178)

 Maturities and sales of short-term investments    305,950 232,973 1,347,800

 Proceeds from the release of restricted funds    — 130,260 —

 Acquisitions of property and equipment    (29,836) (42,206) (59,745)

 Purchases of long-term investments and other assets    (59,059) (43,474) (57,520)

 Acquisitions, net of cash acquired     (24,448) (36,932) (3,544)

 Proceeds from sales of buildings     5,420 40,613 —

 Proceeds from sales of equity securities    17,788 63,876 10,886

 Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities    (228,060) 74,150 (40,301)
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. (continued)
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) (In thousands)  

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

      D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D       2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9   1 9 9 8

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities:

 Purchase of treasury stock     (255,456) (479,161) (379,203)

 Proceeds from reissuance of treasury stock    119,135 142,938 70,935

 Proceeds from sale of put warrants     — 978 2,768

 Payment of dividends      (11,979) (12,233) (16,291)

Net cash used for fi nancing activities     (148,300) (347,478) (321,791)

Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents   (2,545) (597) 1,918

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    65,721 60,274 (156,705)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    171,145 110,871 267,576

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     $ 236,866 $ 171,145 $ 110,871

Supplemental disclosures:

 Cash paid during the year for income taxes    $ 13,195 $ 68,770 $ 22,471

 Noncash investing and fi nancing activities:

  Cash dividends declared but not paid    $ 3,016 $ 3,452 $ 3,062

  Dividends in-kind distributed     $ — $ — $ 7,197

  Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes  $ (38,485) $ 42,808 $ (2,767)

  Reclassifi cations related to the reissuance of treasury stock   $ 25,926 $ 58,877 $ 23,313



N O T E  1 .  S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

Operations  Founded in 1982, Adobe Systems Incorporated (“Adobe”) is a provider of 

graphic design, publishing, and imaging software for Web and print production. We offer 

a market-leading line of application software products, type products, and content for 

creating, distributing, and managing information of all types; license our technology to 

major hardware manufacturers, software developers, and service providers; and offer inte-

grated software solutions to businesses of all sizes. We distribute our products through a 

network of distributors and dealers, value-added resellers (“VARs”), systems integrators, 

and original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) partners; direct to end users through 

Adobe call centers; and through our own Web site at www.adobe.com. We have operations 

in the Americas; Europe, Middle East, and Africa (“EMEA”); and Asia.

Fiscal Year  Our fiscal year is a 52/53-week year ending on the Friday closest to November 30.

Basis of Consolidation  The accompanying consolidated financial statements include 

those of Adobe and our subsidiaries, after elimination of all intercompany accounts 

and transactions.

Use of Estimates  In the preparation of financial statements in conformity with account-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America, we must make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the date of the financial statements, and reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 

 differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments  Cash equivalents consist of instruments with 

maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase.

We classify all of our cash equivalents and short-term investments, and certain restricted 

funds and noncurrent investments in equity securities, free of trading restrictions or to 

become free of trading restrictions within one year, as “available-for-sale.” We carry these 

investments at fair value, based on quoted market prices, and unrealized gains and losses, 

net of taxes, are included in accumulated other comprehensive income, which is reflected 

as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. If the market value adjustment results in 

a loss of value due to an other-than-temporary impairment, the loss will be transferred 

from accumulated other comprehensive income and recorded in other income in the 

 consolidated income statement. 

We determine realized gains and losses upon sale or maturity of these investments using 

the specific identification method.

Foreign Currency Translation  We translate assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, 

whose functional currency is the local currency, at year-end exchange rates. We translate 

revenues and expenses at the average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. We 

include the adjustment resulting from translating the financial statements of such foreign 

subsidiaries in accumulated other comprehensive income, which is reflected as a separate 

component of stockholders’ equity. We report certain other transaction gains or losses, 

which have not been material, in results of operations.

Property and Equipment  We record property and equipment at cost. Depreciation and 

amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated 

useful lives (thirty-five years for buildings; two to seven years for furniture and equipment) 

or lease terms (five to nine years for leasehold improvements) of the respective assets.

Other Assets  Purchased technology, goodwill, and certain other intangible assets are stated 

at cost less accumulated amortization. We record amortization utilizing the straight-line 

method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally three to seven 

years. Capitalization of computer software development costs, when material, begins upon 

the establishment of technological feasibility, which is generally the completion of a working 

prototype that has been certified as having no critical bugs and is a release candidate. To 

date, software development costs incurred between completion of a working prototype and 

general availability of the related product have not been material.

Long-lived Assets  We review property and equipment for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recov-

erable. We measure the recoverability of property and equipment by comparison of our 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (In thousands, except share and per share data)
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carrying amount to undiscounted future net cash flows that the property and equipment 

are expected to generate. If we consider such assets to be impaired, the impairment to be 

recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the property and 

equipment exceeds its fair market value, as determined by discounted cash flows. We 

assess the recoverability of enterprise-level goodwill by determining whether the unamor-

tized goodwill balance can be recovered through undiscounted future results of the 

acquired operation. We measure the amount of enterprise-level goodwill impairment, if 

any, based on projected discounted future results using a discount rate reflecting our aver-

age cost of funds.

Employee Stock Plans  We account for our employee stock plans, which consist of fixed 

stock option plans, an employee stock purchase plan, and a performance and restricted 

stock plan, using the intrinsic value method.

Revenue Recognition  In fiscal 2000, we adopted Statement of Position No. 98-9 (“SOP 

98-9”), “Modifications of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to 

Certain Transactions.” The adoption of SOP 98-9 did not have a significant impact on our 

financial position or results of operations.

We recognize application products revenue upon shipment, provided that collection is 

determined to be probable and no significant obligations remain. We provide application 

products customers free telephone support, for which the expense is accrued, up to a max-

imum of ninety days beginning upon the customer’s first call. We amortize the cost of 

telephone support as the obligation is fulfilled. Revenue from distributors is subject to 

agreements allowing limited rights of return, rebates, and price protection. We accrue for 

estimated future returns, price protection when given, and rebates at the time the related 

revenue is recorded.

We record licensing revenue, primarily royalties, when OEM partners ship products incor-

porating Adobe software, provided collection of such revenue is probable. We have no 

remaining obligations in relation to such licensing revenue.

Deferred revenue includes customer advances under OEM licensing agreements. 

Maintenance revenue for application products is deferred and recognized ratably over the 

term of the contract, generally twelve months. In cases where we will provide a free 

upgrade to an existing product, we defer revenue until the future obligation is fulfilled.

Direct Costs  Direct costs include product packaging, third-party royalties, excess and obsolete 

inventory, and amortization related to localization costs and acquired technologies.

Advertising Costs  We expense all advertising costs as incurred and classify these costs 

under sales and marketing expense.

Advertising costs for fiscal years 2000, 1999, and 1998 were $32.9 million, $22.4 million, 

and $16.7 million, respectively.

Income Taxes  We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under 

the asset and liability method, we recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 

future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carry-

ing amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities. We record a valuation 

allowance to reduce tax assets to an amount whose realization is more likely than not.

Foreign Currency and Equity Hedging Instruments  In June 1999, the Financial Accounting 

Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 

133 (“SFAS 133”), “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as 

amended by SFAS 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—

Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133,” and SFAS 138, “Accounting for 

Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.” We adopted SFAS 133 

beginning December 2, 2000. SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards 

for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities and requires us to recognize all 

derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure them at fair 

value. Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value would be accounted for 

depending on the use of the derivative and whether it is designated and qualifies for 
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hedge accounting. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 133 to result in any material 

transition adjustment to earnings in the first quarter of fiscal 2001.

We use option and forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain operational 

(“cash flow” hedge) exposures resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. 

Such exposures result from portions of our revenues that are denominated in currencies 

other than the U.S. dollar (“USD”), primarily the Japanese yen and the euro. We enter 

into these foreign exchange contracts to hedge anticipated product sales and receivables 

in the normal course of business, and accordingly, they are not speculative in nature. 

Changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges of 

anticipated non-USD sales will be recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income 

(loss) until the revenue is recognized. Upon revenue recognition, the related gain or loss 

on the cash flow hedge will be reclassified to revenue. In the event the underlying fore-

casted transaction does not occur, or it becomes probable that it will not occur, we would 

reclassify the gain or loss on the related cash flow hedge from accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss) to other income on the consolidated income statement at 

that time. Since the critical terms of the hedging instruments are the same as the under-

lying forecasted transaction, the changes in fair value of the derivatives are highly 

effective in offsetting changes in the expected cash flows from the forecasted transaction. 

We will record any ineffective portion of the hedging instruments directly as other 

income on the consolidated income statement.

Furthermore, we continue to hedge our net recognized foreign currency assets and liabili-

ties with forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the risk that our earnings and cash 

flows will be adversely affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. These 

 derivative instruments hedge assets and liabilities that are denominated in  foreign 

 currencies and are marked to market through other income. Therefore, these contracts 

do not need to be designated hedges under SFAS 133. These derivative instruments do 

not subject us to material balance sheet risk due to exchange rate movements because 

gains and losses on these derivatives offset losses and gains on the assets and liabilities 

being hedged. The forward foreign exchange contracts entered into by us had maturities 

of ninety days or less.

We also have a policy that allows us to hedge our equity holdings in publicly traded com-

panies. From time to time, we have entered into forward contracts to sell portions of our 

equity holdings in future periods. We account for these forward contracts at fair market 

value, offsetting changes in the fair market value, of the equities being hedged.

Put Warrants and Call Options  We utilize put warrants and call options (“puts and calls”) 

to facilitate the repurchase of our common stock. The puts and calls permit, at our option, 

physical delivery or net share settlement equal to the difference between the exercise price 

and the value of the option as determined by the contract. Accordingly, in-the-money put 

warrants do not result in a liability on the balance sheet.

Stock Split  Adobe’s Board of Directors approved a two-for-one stock split in the form of a 

stock dividend of our common stock to stockholders of record on October 2, 2000 

effected October 24, 2000. All share and per share amounts referred to in the consolidated 

financial statements have been adjusted to reflect this stock split.

Comprehensive Income  Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 (“SFAS 

130”), “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” establishes standards for the reporting and 

display of comprehensive income and its components in the financial statements. Items 

of comprehensive income (loss) that we currently report are unrealized gains and losses 

on marketable securities categorized as available-for-sale and foreign currency translation 

adjustments. We display comprehensive income and its components on our Consolidated 

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  In June 1999, the FASB issued SFAS 133, “Accounting 

for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS 137, 

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—Deferral of the Effective 

Date of FASB Statement No. 133,” and SFAS 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative 

Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.” We adopted SFAS 133 beginning December 

2, 2000. SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative financial 
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instruments and hedging activities and requires us to recognize all derivatives as either 

assets or  liabilities on the balance sheet and measure them at fair value. Gains and losses 

resulting from changes in fair value would be accounted for depending on the use of the 

derivative and whether it is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting. We do not 

expect the  adoption of SFAS 133 to result in any material transition adjustment to earn-

ings in the first quarter of fiscal 2001.

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) issued Staff 

Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”), “Revenue Recognition in Financial 

Statements.” SAB 101 summarizes certain of the SEC’s views in applying accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America to revenue recognition in 

financial statements. In March 2000, the SEC issued SAB 101A, which delayed the 

implementation date of SAB 101. In June 2000, the SEC issued SAB 101B, which further 

delayed the implementation date of SAB 101. We adopted SAB 101 beginning December 

2, 2000. The adoption of SAB 101 did not have a material impact on our financial posi-

tion or results of operations.

In March 2000, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 44 (“FIN 44”), “Accounting for 

Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation—an Interpretation of APB No. 25.” 

FIN 44 clarifies the application of APB 25 for certain issues including (a) the definition of 

employee for purposes of applying APB 25, (b) the criteria for determining whether a 

plan qualifies as a noncompensatory plan, (c) the accounting consequence of various 

modifications to the terms of a previously fixed stock option or award, and (d) the 

accounting for an exchange of stock compensation awards in a business combination. 

FIN 44 was effective July 1, 2000, except for the provisions that relate to modifications 

that directly or indirectly reduced the exercise price of an award and the definition of an 

employee, which were effective after December 15, 1998. The adoption of FIN 44 did not 

have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In March 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force (the “EITF”) published its consensus on 

Issue No. 00-2, “Accounting for Web Site Development Costs,” which requires that costs 

incurred during the development of Web site applications and infrastructure involving 

developing software to operate the Web site, including graphics that affect the “look and 

feel” of the Web page and all costs relating to software used to operate a Web site, should 

be accounted for under Statement of Position 98-1 (“SOP 98-1”), “Accounting for the 

Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” However, if a plan 

exists or is being developed to market the software externally, the costs relating to the soft-

ware should be accounted for pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 86 (“SFAS 86”), “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, 

or Otherwise Marketed.” We adopted Issue No. 00-2 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000. 

The adoption of Issue No. 00-2 did not have a material impact on our financial position 

or results of operations.

In March 2000, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-3, “Application of AICPA 

Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, to Arrangements That Include 

the Right to Use Software Stored on Another Entity’s Hardware.” The Issue states that 

a software element covered by Statement of Position 97-2 (“SOP 97-2”) is only present in 

a hosting arrangement if the customer has the contractual right to take possession of the 

software at any time during the hosting period without significant penalty and it is feasible 

for the customer to either run the software on its own hardware or contract with another 

party unrelated to the vendor to host the software. We do not expect the adoption of Issue 

No. 00-3 to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In March 2000, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-8, “Accounting by a 

Grantee for an Equity Instrument to Be Received in Conjunction with Providing Goods 

or Services.” Issue No. 00-8 addresses the date to be used by the grantee to measure the 

fair value of those equity instruments for revenue recognition purposes for transactions 

in which an entity provides goods or services in exchange for equity instruments. In addi-

tion, it addresses how the grantee should account for changes in the fair value of equity 

instruments whose terms are subject to adjustment after the accounting measurement 

date. Issue No. 00-8 applies to all grants and to modifications of existing grants that occur 

after March 16, 2000. The adoption of Issue No. 00-8 did not have a material impact on 

our financial position or results of operations.



In May 2000, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-14, “Accounting for Coupons, 

Rebates, and Discounts.” Issue No. 00-14 addresses the recognition, measurement, and 

income statement classification for sales incentives offered voluntarily by a vendor without 

charge to customers that can be used in, or that are exercisable by a customer as a result of, 

a single exchange transaction. We adopted Issue No. 00-14 beginning December 2, 2000. 

The adoption of Issue No. 00-14 did not have a material impact on our financial position 

or results of operations.

Reclassifications  Certain reclassifications have been made to the fiscal 1999 and 1998 

 consolidated statements of cash flows and industry segment and geographic information 

to conform to our fiscal 2000 presentation. These reclassifications did not impact total 

cash flows or industry segment and geographic information in fiscal 1999 and 1998.

N O T E  2 .  A C Q U I S I T I O N S

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, we acquired Boston, Massachusetts–based 

Glassbook, Inc. (“Glassbook”). Glassbook is a developer of consumer and commercial 

software for the eBook market, automating the supply chain for publishers, booksellers, 

distributors, and libraries. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method 

of accounting in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 16 (“APB 

16”), “Business Combinations.” The purchase price of the acquisition was approximately 

$24.4 million cash plus additional liabilities assumed of approximately $3.6 million. 

Based on an independent appraiser’s valuation, $0.5 million of the purchase price was 

allocated to in-process research and development due to the state of the development 

and the uncertainty of the technology and expensed upon acquisition. The remaining 

$27.5 million was allocated $26.9 million to goodwill, $0.4 million to intangible assets, 

and $0.2 million to other assets. The goodwill and intangible assets are amortized on a 

straight-line basis over a three-year period. 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, we acquired substantially all of the assets, con-

sisting of intellectual property, of Attitude Software, LLC (“Attitude Software”). The 

acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting in accordance 

with APB 16, and substantially all of the purchase price of $3.0 million cash was allocated 

to in-process research and development and expensed at the time of acquisition. The 

ongoing project at Attitude Software at the time of the purchase included the develop-

ment of the 3D Anarchy authoring product. We purchased this technology to incorporate 

it into future versions of existing Adobe products to further enhance the feature sets and 

user interface contained within the products. At the date we acquired Attitude Software, it 

was estimated that 50% of the development effort had been completed and that the 

remaining 50% of the development effort would take approximately eighteen months to 

complete and would cost $1.8 million. The efforts required to complete the development 

of the technology primarily related to additional design efforts to integrate the technology 

into several of our products, finalization of coding, and completion testing. The value of 

the in-process technology was determined by estimating the projected net cash flows 

related to products the technology will be integrated into, including costs to complete the 

development of the technology and the future net revenues that may be earned from the 

products, excluding the value attributed to the existing technology with the products prior 

to the integration of the purchased technology. These cash flows were discounted back to 

their net present value using a discount rate of 20%, exclusive of the value  attributable to 

the use of the in-process technologies in future products.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, we acquired substantially all of the 

assets, consisting of intellectual property, of Photomerge Technology. In connection with 

the acquisition of Photomerge Technology, 100% of the purchase price, or $600,000 cash, 

was allocated to in-process research and development, due to the state of completion and 

the uncertainty of the technology.

On December 22, 1998, we acquired substantially all of the assets, consisting of intellectual 

property and a minimal amount of fixed assets, of both GoLive Systems, Inc., a Delaware 

corporation, and GoLive Systems GmbH and Co. KG, a German limited partnership 

(together “GoLive Systems”). GoLive Systems creates Web site development software, 

which enables users to effectively use the Internet for professional publishing and 

 communication. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of 
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accounting in accordance with APB 16. The initial purchase price of the acquisition was 

approximately $31.0 million cash, plus additional contingency payments of up to $8.0 million 

based on achieving certain technical and employment milestones. We determined that 

 certain milestones had been reached as of March 5, 1999, and as such, $4.0 million in 

 contingent payments were recorded as additional purchase price and paid throughout 

 fiscal 1999. Approximately $11.4 million of the purchase price was allocated to the devel-

oped technology, and the remaining $23.6 million was allocated to trademark, the value of 

the assembled workforce, and goodwill.

N O T E  3 .  C A S H ,  C A S H  E Q U I V A L E N T S ,  A N D  S H O R T - T E R M  I N V E S T M E N T S

Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments consisted of the following:

   U N R E A L I Z E D  U N R E A L I Z E D  E S T I M A T E D

A S  O F  D E C E M B E R  1 ,  2 0 0 0   C O S T    G A I N S   L O S S E S  F A I R  V A L U E

Classified as current assets:

Cash   $    11,997 $     — $            — $    11,997

Cash equivalents:

 Money market mutual funds  198,629 — — 198,629

 State and municipal bonds and notes  26,240 — — 26,240

 Total cash equivalents  224,869 — — 224,869

 Total cash and cash equivalents  236,866 — — 236,866

Short-term investments:

 State and municipal bonds  340,091 536 (589) 340,038

 Other marketable equity securities,
including equity hedging instruments  92,527 31,629 (23,211) 100,945

 Corporate notes   1,994 10 — 2,004

 Total short-term investments  434,612 32,175 (23,800) 442,987

Total cash, cash equivalents, 
and short-term investments  $ 671,478 $ 32,175 $ (23,800) $ 679,853

    U N R E A L I Z E D  U N R E A L I Z E D  E S T I M A T E D

A S  O F  D E C E M B E R  3 ,  1 9 9 9   C O S T  G A I N S  L O S S E S  F A I R  V A L U E

Classified as current assets:     

Cash   $    42,452 $         — $         — $   42,452

Cash equivalents:

 Money market mutual funds  52,135 — — 52,135

 Time deposit   5,000 — — 5,000

 State and municipal bonds and notes  66,575 — — 66,575

 United States government agency notes 4,983 — — 4,983

 Total cash equivalents  128,693 — — 128,693

 Total cash and cash equivalents  171,145 — — 171,145

Short-term investments:

 State and municipal bonds  198,284 441 (666) 198,059

 Other marketable equity securities  46,694 83,817 (999) 129,512

 Total short-term investments  244,978 84,258 (1,665) 327,571

Total cash, cash equivalents, 
and short-term investments  $ 416,123 $ 84,258 $ (1,665) $ 498,716

Approximately $224.9 million and $128.7 million in investments are classified as cash 

equivalents as of December 1, 2000 and December 3, 1999, respectively. We included 

 unrealized gains (losses) on securities, net of taxes, in accumulated other comprehensive 

income, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity, and totaled $5.1 million 

and $43.6 million as of December 1, 2000 and December 3, 1999, respectively. We 

included net realized gains from the sale of short-term equity investments for the years 

ended December 1, 2000 and December 3, 1999 of $12.7 million and $59.4 million, 

respectively, in nonoperating income.



As of December 1, 2000, the cost and estimated fair value of current debt securities and 

money market mutual funds with a maturity of one year or less were $329.5 million and 

$329.4 million, respectively, and the cost and estimated fair value of current debt 

 securities with maturities ranging from one to five years was $237.5 million. We classify 

these securities as current assets based on our intent and ability to use these securities as 

necessary to satisfy significant short-term liquidity requirements that may arise.

N O T E  4 .  P R O P E R T Y  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

  D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3

  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9

Land    $           —  $          846

Building    —  4,477

Equipment    140,205  156,658

Furniture and fixtures    24,824  26,840

Capital projects in-progress   7,915  6,592

Leasehold improvements    27,013  25,795

     199,957  221,208

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  135,689  152,070

     $  64,268  $    69,138

N O T E  5 .  O T H E R  A S S E T S

Other assets consisted of the following:

  D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3

  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9

Investments    $   72,490  $   75,793

Goodwill    53,679  26,442

Purchased technology and licensing agreements  19,755  17,505

Intangibles and other assets   4,667  26,945

     150,591  146,685

Less accumulated amortization   23,355  34,979

     $ 127,236  $ 111,706

We own a minority interest in certain companies and a majority interest in Adobe 

Ventures L.P.; Adobe Ventures II, L.P.; Adobe Ventures III, L.P.; and Adobe Ventures IV, L.P. 

(collectively “Adobe Ventures”). The limited partnership investments are accounted for 

under the equity method, as contractually the partnerships are controlled by the general 

partner, a third party.

The investments in Adobe Ventures L.P.; Adobe Ventures II, L.P.; Adobe Ventures III, L.P.; 

and Adobe Ventures IV, L.P., which were established to invest in emerging technology com-

panies strategic to Adobe’s software business, totaled $4.8 million, $15.7 million, $44.2 

million, and $4.1 million, respectively, as of December 1, 2000, and totaled $17.1 million, 

$31.9 million, $16.1 million, and nil, respectively, as of December 3, 1999. Our investments 

in the limited partnerships are adjusted to reflect our equity interest in Adobe Ventures 

L.P.’s; Adobe Ventures II, L.P.’s; Adobe Ventures III, L.P.’s; and Adobe Ventures IV, L.P.’s 

investment income and dividend distributions, which totaled $0.4 million, $12.4 million, 

and $0.3 million in fiscal years 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. Adobe Ventures carry 
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their investments in equity securities at an estimated fair market value, and unrealized 

gains and losses are included in investment income. The stock of a substantial number of 

the technology companies held by Adobe Ventures at December 1, 2000 is not publicly 

traded, and therefore, there is no established market for these investments. As such, these 

investments are valued based on the most recent round of financing involving new nonstra-

tegic investors and estimates made by the general partner, a third party. When investments 

held by the limited partnerships are publicly traded, the fair value of such investments is 

based on quoted market prices, and mark-to-market adjustments are included in invest-

ment income. 

We own minority interests in certain technology companies totaling $3.8 million and 

$10.6 million as of December 1, 2000 and December 3, 1999, respectively. Investments in 

equity securities that are not publicly traded, or are restricted from trading for more than 

one year, are carried at the lower of cost or market.

Our portfolio of equity investments included in Other Assets at December 1, 2000 had an 

original cost basis of $84.1 million and an estimated fair market value of $72.5 million. 

(For further information, see Note 9.)

As of December 1, 2000, intangibles and other assets consisted primarily of capitalized 

localization costs of $4.5 million and other intangible assets of $0.2 million. As of 

December 3, 1999, intangibles and other assets consisted primarily of capitalized localiza-

tion costs of $18.0 million and other intangible assets of $8.9 million. Amortization 

expense related to goodwill, purchased technology, capitalized localization, and other 

intangible assets was $14.0 million and $18.2 million in fiscal 2000 and 1999, respectively.

N O T E  6 .  A C C R U E D  E X P E N S E S

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

  D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3

  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9

Accrued compensation and benefits   $   96,162  $   65,957

Sales and marketing allowances   6,435  9,990

Minority interest    1,999  17,737

Other    77,265  57,218

     $ 181,861  $ 150,902

N O T E  7 .  R E S T R U C T U R I N G  A N D  O T H E R  C H A R G E S

During fiscal 1999 and 1998, we implemented three different Board-approved restructuring 

programs. These separate restructuring programs were directly focused on improving our 

competitive position as well as enhancing our allocation of resources. 

During the second quarter of fiscal 2000, we paid our remaining obligations related to the 

three fiscal 1999 and fiscal 1998 restructuring programs totaling $8.0 million. In addition 

to the cash payments made, we revised our estimate of the total costs associated with 

the restructuring programs, resulting in an adjustment of approximately $0.7 million. 

The adjustment primarily reflected lower than estimated severance and related charges 

attributable to employees whose positions were eliminated as a result of the restructurings 

but who were able to find alternative employment within Adobe. The remaining adjust-

ment was due to lower than expected charges related to vacating leased facilities. As of 

December 1, 2000, there was no restructuring liability remaining for our fiscal 1999 and 

1998 restructuring programs. 



The tables below show the breakdown of the cash payments and adjustments made in fiscal 

2000 for the three separate restructuring programs.

Fiscal 1999 Restructuring Programs  The fourth quarter 1999 restructuring program was 

implemented to enhance our worldwide customer support activity and to streamline the 

product distribution and warehouse operations in North America. This restructuring 

 program included a reduction in force of 86 positions and the closure of the North 

American distribution warehouse as a result of our decision to outsource our North 

American distribution operation and the majority of our customer support services. 

The reduction in force primarily affected employees in Seattle, Washington and Santa 

Clara, California. We incurred $2.1 million in total charges in the fourth quarter of fi scal 

1999 as a result of the restructuring, which included severance and related charges associ-

ated with the reduction in force and charges related to vacating leased facilities. During 

fi scal 2000, we paid our remaining obligation, and as of December 1, 2000, no restructuring 

liability existed. 

The following table depicts the activity for the 1999 fourth-quarter restructuring program 

through December 1, 2000: 

   A C C R U E D   A C C R U E D

   B A L A N C E  AT   B A L A N C E  AT

   D E C E M B E R  3  C A S H  D E C E M B E R  1

   1 9 9 9  PAY M E N T S  2 0 0 0

Severance and related charges  $ 1,953 $ (1,953) $  —

Lease termination costs   103 (103) —

     $ 2,056 $ (2,056) $  —

The 1999 restructuring program that we implemented throughout the second and third 

quarters of fiscal 1999 was directly related to the centralization of our worldwide sales 

and administrative organizations and the realignment of our Printing Solutions business. 

This program included a reduction in force of 198 positions, two of which were executive 

positions. The reduction in force primarily affected our European headquarters in 

Edinburgh, Scotland and our North American headquarters in San Jose, California. 

In addition to severance and related charges associated with the reduction in force, the 

restructuring program included charges for vacating leased facilities. These restructuring 

actions in the second and third quarters of fiscal 1999 resulted in total charges of $17.6 

million, of which approximately $0.1 million were noncash charges. During fiscal 2000, 

we paid our remaining obligation related to this restructuring program, and as of 

December 1, 2000, no restructuring liability existed. 

The following table depicts the activity for the 1999 second-quarter restructuring program 

through December 1, 2000:

  A C C R U E D    A C C R U E D

  B A L A N C E  AT    B A L A N C E  AT

  D E C E M B E R  3  C A S H   D E C E M B E R  1

  1 9 9 9  PAY M E N T S  A D J U S T M E N T S  2 0 0 0

Severance and related charges  $ 5,207 $ (4,787) $ (420) $  —

Lease termination costs   435 (426) (9) —

Other charges   205 (205) — —

    $ 5,847 $ (5,418) $ (429) $  —
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Fiscal 1998 Restructuring Program  The 1998 restructuring program was implemented to 

refocus our product development efforts and to eliminate management redundancies in 

our organization. This program consisted of severance and related charges for 364 posi-

tions, four of which were executive positions. In addition, we divested two business units, 

canceled certain contracts, and vacated leased facilities. These restructuring actions in fis-

cal 1998 resulted in total charges of $38.2 million, of which approximately $9.1 million 

were noncash charges. During  fiscal 2000, we paid our remaining obligation related to 

this restructuring program, and as of December 1, 2000, no restructuring liability existed. 

  A C C R U E D    A C C R U E D

  B A L A N C E  A T    B A L A N C E  A T

  D E C E M B E R  3  C A S H   D E C E M B E R  1

  1 9 9 9  P A Y M E N T S  A D J U S T M E N T S  2 0 0 0

Severance and related charges  $ 259 $ (87) $ (172) $  —

Lease termination costs   78 (7) (71) —

Other charges   435 (435) — —

    $ 772 $ (529) $ (243) $  —

Other Charges  During the second quarter of fiscal 2000, we recorded other charges of 

approximately $6.3 million that were unusual in nature. These charges related to the dis-

posal of certain equipment and one-time litigation-related expenses.

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999, we recorded other charges of approxi-

mately $8.4 million that were unusual in nature. These charges included $2.0 million 

associated with the cancelation of a contract and $2.2 million for accelerated depreciation 

related to the adjustment of the useful life of certain assets as a result of decisions made by 

our management as part of the restructuring program. We also incurred a nonrecurring 

compensation charge of $2.6 million for a terminated employee and consulting fees of 

$1.6 million to assist in the restructuring of our operations. 

N O T E  8 .  I N C O M E  T A X E S

Income before income taxes includes net income from foreign operations of approxi-

mately $39.0 million, $23.1 million, and $18.8 million for the years ended December 1, 

2000; December 3, 1999; and November 27, 1998, respectively.

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

 D E C E M B E R  1   D E C E M B E R  3   N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0   1 9 9 9   1 9 9 8

Current:

 United States federal  $   13,096  $    54,097  $ 34,466

 Foreign  11,452  11,346  15,394

 State and local  5,063  12,061  6,869

Total current  29,611  77,504  56,729

Deferred:

 United States federal  (1,569)  (569)  (4,312)

 Foreign  3,568  1,810  (1,500)

 State and local  (601)  (547)  (962)

Total deferred  1,398  694  (6,774)

Charge in lieu of taxes 
attributable to 
employee stock plans  124,922  58,478  12,595

   $ 155,931  $ 136,676  $ 62,550



Total income tax expense differs from the expected tax expense (computed by multiplying 

the United States federal statutory rate of 35% for fiscal years 2000, 1999, and 1998 by 

income before income taxes) as a result of the following:

 D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Computed “expected” 
tax expense  $ 155,309  $ 131,050  $ 58,693

State tax expense, 
net of federal benefit  12,403  14,419  6,068

Nondeductible goodwill  958  —  2,011

Tax-exempt income  (3,868)  (2,650)  (4,190)

Tax credits  (8,000)  (2,450)  (4,708)

Foreign tax rate differential (571)  —  1,406

Other, net  (300)  (3,693)  3,270

   $ 155,931  $ 136,676  $ 62,550

The tax effects of the temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the 

deferred tax assets and liabilities as of fiscal 2000 and 1999 are presented below:

  D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3

Y E A R S  E N D E D    2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9

Deferred tax assets:

 Acquired technology    $ 11,920  $ 14,916

 Reserves and deferred revenue   29,625  38,159

 Net operating loss carryforwards   —  933

 Other    608  821

 Total gross deferred tax assets   42,153  54,829

 Deferred tax asset valuation allowance  (525)  (1,458)

  Total deferred tax assets   41,628  53,371

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Depreciation and amortization   (5,164)  (3,176)

 Unrealized gains on investments   (14,379)  (37,867)

 Other    (892)  (164)

 Total deferred tax liabilities   (20,435)  (41,207)

Net deferred tax assets    $ 21,193  $ 12,164

We provide United States income taxes on the earnings of foreign subsidiaries unless the 

subsidiaries’ earnings are considered permanently reinvested outside the United States. 

For financial reporting purposes, a valuation allowance has been established for certain 

deferred assets related to the write-down of investments. Management believes that it is 

more likely than not that the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable 

income to realize the net deferred tax assets.
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N O T E  9 .  B E N E F I T  P L A N S

Pretax Savings Plan  In 1987, we adopted an Employee Investment Plan, qualified under 

Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, which is a pretax savings plan covering 

 substantially all of our United States employees. Under the plan, eligible employees may 

contribute up to 18% of their pretax salary, subject to certain limitations. In fiscal 2000, 

we increased our matching contribution from 25% to 50% of the first 6% of employee 

contributions. We contributed approximately $4.5 million, $2.2 million, and $2.4 million 

in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. We can terminate matching contributions at 

our discretion.

Profit Sharing Plan  We have a profit sharing plan that provides for profit sharing 

 payments to all eligible employees following each quarter in which we achieve at least 

70% of our budgeted earnings for the quarter. Beginning in fiscal 2000, the percentage of 

our budgeted earnings that we must achieve increased to 80%. The plan, as well as the 

annual operating budget on which the plan is based, is approved by our Board of 

Directors. We contributed approximately $21.4 million, $23.2 million, and $6.8 million to 

the plan in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Adobe Incentive Partners  In March 1997, as part of our venture investing program, we 

established an internal limited partnership, Adobe Incentive Partners, L.P. (“AIP”), which 

allows certain of our executive officers to participate in cash or stock distributions from 

Adobe’s venture investments. Adobe is both the general partner and a limited partner of 

AIP. Other limited partners are executive officers and former executive officers of Adobe 

who are or were involved in Adobe’s venture investing activities and whose participation 

was deemed critical to the success of the program. No limited partnership interests were 

granted in fiscal 2000.

Adobe’s Class A senior limited partnership interest includes both a liquidation preference 

and a preference in recovery of the cost basis of each specific investment. The executives’ 

Class B junior limited partnership interest qualifies for partnership distributions only after 

(a) Adobe has fully recovered the cost basis of our investment in the specific investee com-

pany for which a distribution is made, and (b) the participating executive has vested in his 

or her distribution rights. The distribution rights generally vest on a monthly basis over 

three years, such that the rights are 25% vested after one year, 50% vested after two years, 

and fully vested at the end of three years. All existing partnership interests were fully vested 

or ceased vesting. The limited partnership investments are restricted to investments in 

companies that are private at the time of the establishment of AIP or when the investment 

is made, whichever is later. Partnership interests may be allocated to designated officers 

only while the investee company is still private. Class B interests may not exceed a maxi-

mum of 20% of the venture investments included in AIP.

Assets held by AIP include Adobe’s entire interests in Adobe Ventures L.P. and Adobe 

Ventures II, L.P., as well as equity securities of certain privately held companies. At 

December 1, 2000, the cost basis and recorded fair value of all investments included in 

AIP were $60.3 million and $45.6 million, respectively. In fiscal 2000, AIP recorded net 

income of $176.9 million. In fiscal 2000, the participating officers received aggregate 

 distributions of $27.7 million, consisting primarily of equity securities. The distribution 

to the officers represents their vested portion of nonmarketable securities that become 

marketable as a result of a public offering, as well as their vested portion of cash resulting 

from investments that were liquidated by AIP. The participating officers receive quarterly 

cash distributions as their partnership interests vest for investments that have been liquidated 

by AIP. At December 1, 2000, the minority interest held by the participating officers was 

$2.0 million and is included in accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.



N O T E  1 0 .  E M P L O Y E E  S T O C K  P L A N S

Stock Option Plans  As of December 1, 2000, we had reserved 142.0 million shares of com-

mon stock for issuance under our 1994 and 1999 Stock Option Plans (the “Option 

Plans”) for employees, which provide for the granting of stock options to employees and 

officers at the fair market value of our common stock at the grant date. Initial options 

granted under the Option Plans generally vest 25% after the first year and ratably there-

after such that 50% and 100% are vested after the second and third year, respectively; 

subsequent options granted under the Option Plans generally vest ratably over the entire 

term such that 50% and 100% are vested after the second and third year, respectively. 

Outstanding option terms under all of our employee stock option plans range from five 

to ten years.

As of December 1, 2000, we had reserved 2.5 million shares of common stock for issuance 

under our 1996 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan, which provides for the granting of 

nonqualified stock options to nonemployee directors. In December 1999, our Board of 

Directors approved, and in April 2000 our stockholders approved, an increase in the 

 number of shares reserved under the 1996 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan of 

500,000 to an aggregate of 2.5 million shares. Option grants are limited to 40,000 shares 

per person in each fiscal year, except for a new nonemployee director, who is granted 

60,000 shares upon election as a director. All options are exercisable as vested within 

a ten-year term. Options generally vest over three years: 25% on the day preceding each of 

Adobe’s next two annual meetings of stockholders and 50% on the day preceding Adobe’s 

third annual meeting of stockholders after the grant of the option. The exercise price 

of the options that are issued is equal to the fair value on the date of grant. In fiscal 2000, 

we granted options for 160,000 shares with an exercise price of $61.72 to existing 

 directors and an option for 60,000 shares to a new director with an exercise price of 

$78.88. In fiscal 1999, we granted options for 80,000 shares with an exercise price of 

$14.86 to existing directors. 

On September 23, 1998, the Board of Directors approved a stock option repricing program 

whereby each eligible stock option was automatically amended to have an exercise price 

equal to $8.45. As a result, approximately 20.2 million options were amended for eligible 

employees for an equal number of repriced options. All other terms of the options, 

 including expiration dates, remain substantially the same. 

Stock option activity for fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998 is presented below: 

 D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

  W E I G H T E D   W E I G H T E D   W E I G H T E D

  A V E R A G E   A V E R A G E   A V E R A G E

 N U M B E R  O F  E X E R C I S E  N U M B E R  O F  E X E R C I S E  N U M B E R  O F  E X E R C I S E

 S H A R E S  P R I C E  S H A R E S  P R I C E  S H A R E S  P R I C E

Outstanding, 
beginning 
of year 38,149,038 $ 18.56 41,763,280 $   7.92 32,584,940 $ 7.94

Granted 19,669,375 60.90 18,588,080 29.68 42,853,400 8.77

Exercised (8,724,580) 11.17 (17,042,800) 7.50 (7,955,908) 6.55

Canceled (4,076,433) 21.15 (5,159,522) 9.06 (25,719,152) 9.77

Outstanding,
end of year 45,017,400 38.26 38,149,038 18.56 41,763,280 7.92

Exercisable,
end of year 11,478,693 18.53 9,799,482 7.92 17,473,272 7.15

Weighted 
average fair 
value of options
granted during 
the year  $ 29.89  $ 11.66  $ 6.92
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Information regarding the stock options outstanding at December 1, 2000 is sum-

marized below: 

 O P T I O N S  O U T S TA N D I N G  O P T I O N S  E X E R C I S A B L E

  W E I G H T E D

  AV E R A G E  W E I G H T E D   W E I G H T E D

  R E M A I N I N G  AV E R A G E   AV E R A G E

R A N G E  O F  S H A R E S  C O N T R A C T U A L  E X E R C I S E  S H A R E S  E X E R C I S E

E X E R C I S E  P R I C E S  O U T S TA N D I N G  L I F E  P R I C E  E X E R C I S A B L E  P R I C E

$  1.64    2,000 1.67 years $   1.64 2,000 $   1.64

$  2.56 — $   3.66  214,218 1.84 years 3.62 214,218 3.62

$  4.06 — $   5.97  204,096 1.14 years 5.20 203,956 5.20

$  6.22 — $   8.44  1,753,601 4.57 years 7.66 1,605,135 7.67

$  8.45    9,137,387 5.48 years 8.45 5,384,919 8.45

$  9.66 — $ 14.09  1,689,237 6.23 years 11.64 523,785 11.58

$ 14.86 — $ 21.34  1,076,528 6.62 years 17.91 258,257 17.65

$ 24.59 — $ 35.69  11,749,924 6.91 years 35.03 1,886,236 34.91

$ 41.78 — $ 61.72  7,938,784 6.99 years 55.16 1,392,538 54.65

$ 63.94 — $ 83.19  11,251,625 7.93 years 65.91 7,649 64.14

   45,017,400 6.72 years $ 38.26 11,478,693 $ 18.53

Performance and Restricted Stock Plan  The Performance and Restricted Stock Plan (“the 

Plan”) provides for the granting of restricted stock and/or performance awards to officers 

and key employees. As of December 1, 2000, we had reserved 8.0 million shares of our 

common stock for issuance under the Plan. 

Restricted shares issued under the Plan generally vest annually between two to three years 

but are considered outstanding at the time of grant, as the stockholders are entitled to 

 dividends and voting rights. As of December 1, 2000, 929,763 shares were outstanding and 

not yet vested. In fi scal 2000, 1999, and 1998, we granted 453,885; 1,047,920; and 75,400 

shares of restricted stock, respectively, and the weighted average fair value of the shares 

was $58.66, $22.71, and $10.37, respectively. Additionally, we charged $16.5 million, 

$5.3 million, and $2.3 million to expense associated with restricted stock in fiscal 2000, 

1999, and 1998, respectively.

Performance awards issued under the Plan entitle the recipient to receive, at our discretion, 

shares or cash upon completion of the performance period subject to attaining identified 

performance goals. Performance awards are generally measured over a three-year period 

and cliff vest at the end of the three-year period. We accrue the projected value of these 

awards and charge this amount to expense over the three-year performance period. We 

did not grant performance awards in fiscal 2000 or fiscal 1999. In fiscal 1998, we granted 

243,640 performance awards, and the weighted average fair value of the shares was $17.24. 

As of December 1, 2000, there were no performance awards outstanding. As of December 

3, 1999 and November 27, 1998, performance awards for 640,720 shares and 807,480 

shares were outstanding, respectively, and $0.4 million and $2.2 million were credited to 

expense in fiscal 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  Our Employee Stock Purchase Plan allows eligible 

employee participants to purchase shares of our common stock at a discount through 

payroll deductions. For offerings commencing before September 2000, the plan consists 

of twelve-month offerings with two six-month purchase periods in each offering period; 

in September 2000, the plan was amended to increase the offering periods for offerings 

commencing after that date to twenty-four-month offering periods with four six-month 

purchase periods in each offering period. As of January 1, 2001, all employees participat-

ing in the plan have twenty-four-month offering periods. Employees purchase shares at 

85% of the market value at either the beginning of the offering period or the end of the 

purchase period, whichever price is lower. As of December 1, 2000, we had reserved 38.0 

million shares of our common stock for issuance under this plan, and approximately 17.0 

million shares remain available for future issuance.

The weighted average fair value of the purchase rights granted in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 

1998 were $21.34, $5.19, and $3.97, respectively.



Cash Incentive Awards  We grant Cash Incentive Awards (“CIAs”), a form of phantom 

stock, to designated key employees to reward them based on their contributions to a 

 project. The cash value of the CIA is structured to mirror our Restricted Stock Plan. We 

grant CIAs to designated employees that generally vest annually over a three-year period. 

Upon each vest date, the employee is paid the market value of the stock on the date of 

vest multiplied by the number of vested shares. We charged approximately $12.8 million, 

$7.9 million, and $2.3 million to expense for shares vested in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998. 

We currently do not intend to grant cash incentive awards in the future.

Stock Appreciation Rights  In fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, we granted Stock Appreciation 

Rights (“SARs”), a form of phantom stock, to designated key employees based on their 

performance. Additionally, we grant SARs to employees in certain countries outside of 

the U.S. in lieu of stock options, generally with similar vesting schedules to our 

option-vesting schedule; these SARs generally expire eight years after the grant date. The 

performance-based SARs generally vest four years from the date of grant but contain an 

acceleration feature that allows for a two-year vesting period based on Adobe achieving 

predetermined performance goals. These performance-based SARs expire five years from 

the date of grant. Under our SAR plan, designated employees are awarded rights that are 

equal to one share of Adobe’s common stock for each right awarded with an exercise 

price based on the fair market value on the grant date. When the award vests, employees 

generally have the right to exercise the award and receive the then-current value in cash of 

the appreciation from the exercise price of the exercised number of rights of our common 

stock. We awarded 800 rights in fiscal 2000 with an exercise price of $50.19; 28,200 rights 

in fiscal 1999 with an exercise price of $35.69; and 965,320 rights in fiscal 1998 with 

 exercise prices ranging from $8.46 to $8.75. We charged $23.2 million, $9.8 million, and 

$0.3 million to expense in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. We currently do not 

intend to grant stock appreciation rights in the future, except to certain employees 

 outside of the U.S. in lieu of stock options.

Pro Forma Fair Value Disclosures  We account for our employee stock plans, consisting of 

fixed stock option plans, an employee stock purchase plan, and a performance and 

restricted stock plan, using the intrinsic value method. The following table sets forth the 

pro forma amounts of net income and net income per share that would have resulted if 

we accounted for our employee stock plans under the fair value recognition provisions of 

SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

 D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Net income:

 As reported  $ 287,808  $ 237,751         $    105,144

 Pro forma  $ 196,153  $ 198,787  $   54,435

Net income per share:

 As reported:

 Basic  $         1.21  $        0.98  $        0.40

 Diluted  $         1.13  $        0.92  $        0.39

 Pro forma:

 Basic  $         0.82  $        0.82  $        0.20

 Diluted  $         0.77  $        0.78  $        0.20

For purposes of computing pro forma net income, we estimate the fair value of each 

option grant, restricted stock grant, and Employee Stock Purchase Plan purchase right on 

the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions used to 

value the option grants and purchase rights are stated as follows:

 D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Expected life of options  3 years 3 years  3 years

Expected life of restricted stock 3 years 3 years  3 years

Expected life of purchase rights 0.75 years 0.75 years  1.25 years

Volatility  68% 51%  53%

Risk-free interest rate  5.7–6.8% 4.5–5.9%  4.2–5.7%

Dividend yield  0.125% 0.125%  0.125%
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Options and restricted stock grants vest over several years, and new option and restricted 

stock grants are generally made each year. Because of this, the pro forma amounts shown 

above may not be representative of the pro forma effect on reported net income in future years.

N O T E  1 1 .  S T O C K H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

Stockholder Rights Plan  Our Stockholder Rights Plan is intended to protect stockholders 

from unfair or coercive takeover practices. In accordance with this plan, the Board of 

Directors declared a dividend distribution of one common stock purchase right on each 

outstanding share of our common stock held as of July 24, 1990 and on each share of 

common stock issued by Adobe thereafter. In July 2000, the Stockholder Rights Plan was 

amended to extend it for ten years so that each right entitles the holder to purchase one 

unit of Series A Preferred Stock, which is equal to 1/1000 share of Series A Preferred 

Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, at a price of $700 per unit. As adjusted for our 2000 

stock split in the form of a dividend, each share of common stock now entitles the holder 

to one-half of such a purchase right. Each whole right still entitles the registered holder to 

purchase from Adobe a unit of preferred stock at $700. The rights become exercisable in 

certain circumstances, including upon an entity acquiring or announcing the intention to 

acquire beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our common stock without the approval 

of the Board of Directors or upon us being acquired by any person in a merger or busi-

ness combination transaction. The rights are redeemable by Adobe prior to exercise at 

$0.01 per right and expire on July 23, 2010.

Stock Repurchase Programs  Under our existing plan to repurchase shares to offset issu-

ances under employee stock plans, we repurchased approximately 7.2 million, 22.4 

million, and 1.4 million shares in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively, at a cost of 

$255.5 million, $448.7 million, and $16.8 million, respectively.

In April 1999, our Board of Directors authorized, subject to certain business and market 

conditions, the purchase of up to an additional 5.0 million shares of our common stock 

over a two-year period. This new stock repurchase program was in addition to an existing 

program whereby we have been authorized to repurchase shares to offset issuances under 

employee stock option and stock purchase plans. No purchases have been made under 

the 5.0 million share repurchase program.

In September 1997, our Board of Directors authorized, subject to certain business and 

market conditions, the purchase of up to 60.0 million shares of our common stock over a 

two-year period. This program was completed during the first quarter of fiscal 1999. We 

repurchased approximately 3.3 million shares in fiscal 1999, 40.7 million shares in fiscal 

1998, and 16.0 million shares in fiscal 1997, at a cost of $30.5 million, $362.4 million, and 

$188.6 million, respectively. 

Put Warrants  To facilitate our stock repurchase program, we sold put warrants in a series 

of private placements in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998. Each put warrant entitles the holder 

to sell one share of Adobe’s common stock to Adobe at a specified price. Approximately 

8.6 million, 12.0 million, and 16.0 million put warrants were written in fiscal 2000, 1999, 

and 1998, respectively. At December 1, 2000, approximately 2.9 million put warrants were 

outstanding that expire on various dates through July 2001 and have exercise prices rang-

ing from $58.83 to $67.53 per share, with an average exercise price of $62.45 per share. 

In addition, in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, we purchased call options that entitle us to buy 

5.1 million, 5.8 million, and 6.4 million shares, respectively, of our common stock. At 

December 1, 2000, approximately 1.8 million call options were outstanding that expire on 

various dates through July 2001 and have exercise prices ranging from $63.60 to $73.00 

per share, with an average exercise price of $67.51 per share. 

Our put and call option contracts provide that we, at our option, can settle with physical 

delivery or net shares equal to the difference between the exercise price and the value of 

the option as determined by the contract. In the future, we may consider other methods 

to acquire our stock, including direct purchases, open market purchases, accelerated stock 

purchase programs, and other potential methods.



N O T E  1 2 .  N E T  I N C O M E  P E R  S H A R E

Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding for the period, excluding unvested restricted stock. Diluted net 

income per share is based upon the weighted average common shares outstanding for the 

period plus dilutive common equivalent shares, including unvested restricted common 

stock, stock options using the treasury stock method, and put warrants using the reverse 

treasury stock method.

   D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7  

Y E A R S  E N D E D  (In thousands except per share data)  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Net income    $ 287,808 $ 237,751 $ 105,144

Shares used to compute basic net income per share
(weighted average shares outstanding during the 
period, excluding unvested restricted stock)  238,292 241,572 265,732

Dilutive common equivalent shares:

 Unvested restricted stock   930 1,130 240

 Stock options    16,539 15,636 5,924

 Put warrants    13 72 —

Shares used to compute diluted net income per share  255,774 258,410 271,896

Basic net income per share   $         1.21 $        0.98 $        0.40

Diluted net income per share   $         1.13 $        0.92 $        0.39

For the years ended December 1, 2000; December 3, 1999; and November 27, 1998, 

options to purchase approximately 12.1 million, 7.2 million, and 0.4 million shares, 

respectively, of common stock with exercise prices greater than the average fair market 

value of our stock for the period of $56.63, $39.75, and $19.78, respectively, were not 

included in the calculation because the effect would have been antidilutive.

N O T E  1 3 .  C O M M I T M E N T S  A N D  C O N T I N G E N C I E S

Lease Commitments  We lease certain of our facilities and some of our equipment under 

noncancelable operating lease arrangements that expire at various dates through 2014. 

Rent expense for these leases aggregated $25.6 million, $29.4 million, and $22.1 million 

during fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. As of December 1, 2000, future minimum 

lease payments under noncancelable operating leases, net of sublease income, are as fol-

lows: 2001—$23.6 million; 2002—$22.1 million; 2003—$20.3 million; 2004—$19.1 

million; 2005—$8.6 million; and $14.1 million thereafter.

Included in the future minimum lease payments are the following amounts, net of antici-

pated sublease income, for leased facilities vacated in connection with the restructuring 

plans implemented in fiscal 1999 and the third quarter of fiscal 1998: 2001—$2.5 million; 

2002—$3.8 million; 2003—$4.9 million; 2004—$4.8 million; 2005—$4.7 million; and $0.5 

million thereafter. 

In August 1999, we entered into an operating lease agreement for two corporate headquar-

ters office facilities in San Jose, California. The lease is for a period of five years and is 

subject to standard covenants including financial ratios. We have an option to purchase 

the buildings at any time during the term for an amount equal to the total investment of 

the lessor. At the end of the lease term, we may exercise the purchase option or, with the 

mutual agreement of the lessor, renew the term of the lease. In addition to these possibili-

ties, at the end of the term, we may elect to have the buildings sold to an unrelated third 

party. In such case, we are obligated to use our best efforts to arrange for such a sale and 

are obligated to pay the lessor the difference between the total investment in the buildings 

and the net sales proceeds, provided, however, that in no event would we be required to 

pay more than a maximum guaranteed residual amount as set forth in the lease. In the 

event we default during the term of the lease, the lessor could require us to purchase the 

buildings for an amount equal to our option price. As of December 1, 2000, we were in 

compliance with all financial covenants.



45

44

Line of Credit  In August 1999, we entered into a $200.0 million unsecured revolving line 

of credit with a group of 15 banks for general corporate purposes, subject to certain 

 financial covenants. One-half of the facility expired in August 2000, and the other 

$100.0 million expires in August 2002. We renewed, for one year, the $100.0 million un-

secured revolving line of credit that expired in August 2000. Outstanding balances accrue 

interest at London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin that is based on our 

financial ratios. The terms, covenants, and margins of the new facility are substantially 

the same as the expired facility. There were no outstanding balances on either credit facil-

ity as of December 1, 2000. In addition, as of December 1, 2000, we were in compliance 

with all financial covenants.

Royalties  We have certain royalty commitments associated with the shipment and licensing 

of certain products. Royalty expense is generally based on a dollar amount per unit 

shipped or a percentage of the underlying revenue. Royalty expense was approximately 

$20.8 million, $24.5 million, and $25.3 million in fiscal 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Legal Actions  We are engaged in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of busi-

ness. We believe that we have adequate legal defenses and that the ultimate outcome of these 

actions will not have a material effect on our financial position and results of operations.

N O T E  1 4 .  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y  T R A N S A C T I O N S  

During fiscal 1999, we entered into two separate loan agreements with one of Adobe’s 

executive officers to assist with his relocation to San Jose, California. The first loan in the 

amount of $550,000 was repaid on December 31, 1999. The second loan, in the amount 

of $1.0 million, is interest-free and is secured by the executive’s principal residence. Under 

the terms of the agreement, the executive is required to repay this loan at $200,000 per 

year over the next five years, beginning December 2000. The first such payment was made 

in December 2000. In addition, the loan must be repaid in full within thirty days of any 

termination of the executive’s employment.

N O T E  1 5 .  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  Our cash equivalents, short-term investments, and mar-

ketable equity securities are carried at fair value, based on quoted market prices for these 

or similar investments. Our portfolio of equity securities had a cost basis of $92.5 million 

and a fair market value of $90.2 million. (For further information, see Note 3.)

Our portfolio of equity investments included in Other Assets at December 1, 2000 had a 

cost basis of $84.1 million and an estimated fair market value of $72.5 million. (For further 

information, see Note 5.) 

Foreign Currency Hedging Instruments  We enter into forward exchange contracts to hedge 

foreign currency exposures on a continuing basis for periods consistent with our committed 

exposures. These transactions do subject us to risk of accounting gains and losses; how-

ever, the gains and losses on these contracts offset gains and losses on the assets, liabilities, 

and transactions being hedged. We are exposed to credit-related losses in the event of 

nonperformance by the counterparties in these contracts. The amounts of unrealized 

gains and losses are immaterial. As of December 1, 2000 and December 3, 1999, we held 

$23.2 million and $17.0 million, respectively, of aggregate foreign currency forward 

exchange contracts. As of December 1, 2000 and December 3, 1999, we held $43.3 million 

and $64.0 million, respectively, in foreign currency option contracts.

Equity Hedging Instruments  We have a policy that allows us to hedge our equity  holdings 

in publicly traded companies. From time to time, we have entered into forward contracts 

to sell portions of our equity holdings in future periods. We account for these forward 

contracts at fair market value offsetting changes in the value of the equities being hedged. 

As of December 1, 2000, the value of our forward contracts hedging equity securities was 

$10.8 million. 

Concentration of Risk  Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentra-

tions of credit risk are primarily cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, and 

accounts receivable. 



Our investment portfolio consists of investment-grade securities diversified among secu-

rity types, industries, and issuers. Our investments are managed by recognized financial 

institutions that follow Adobe’s investment policy. Our policy limits the amount of credit 

exposure to any one issue or issuer, and we believe no significant concentration of credit 

risk exists with respect to these investments.

Credit risk in receivables is limited to OEM partners and to dealers and distributors of 

hardware and software products to the retail market. We adopt credit policies and 

 standards to keep pace with the evolving software industry. Management believes that any 

risk of accounting loss is significantly reduced due to the diversity of our products, end 

users, and geographic sales areas. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our 

 customers’ financial condition and require letters of credit or other guarantees, whenever 

deemed necessary. (For discussion of significant customers as of December 1, 2000, 

see Note 16.)

We distribute our application products primarily through distributors, resellers, and 

retailers (collectively referred to as “distributors”). A significant amount of our revenue 

for application products is from two distributors. We have revised our channel program 

to reduce the overall number of our distributors worldwide and focus our channel efforts 

on larger distributors. This revision of the channel program has resulted in an increase in 

our dependence on a smaller number of distributors selling through a larger amount of 

our products. Additionally, our goal is to increase our direct distribution of our products 

to end users through our online store located on our Web site at www.adobe.com. Any 

such increase in our direct revenue efforts will place us in increased competition with our 

channel distributors and with newer types of distribution of our products by online, 

Internet-based resellers of our products. While we anticipate that the restructuring and 

streamlining of our product distribution channels and the increase in the scope of our 

direct sales efforts will eventually improve our business by decreasing discounts or rebate 

programs provided to distributors, decreasing product returns, and shortening inventory 

cycles, these changes could instead seriously harm our business.

We derive a significant portion of our licensing revenue from a small number of OEM 

 partners. Our OEM partners on occasion seek to renegotiate their royalty arrangements. 

We evaluate these requests on a case-by-case basis. If we do not reach an agreement, a 

 partner may decide to pursue other options, which could result in lower licensing  revenue 

for us. Also, in the fall of 1997, one of Adobe’s largest PostScript partners, Hewlett-Packard 

Company, introduced a clone version of Adobe PostScript in one family of monochrome 

laser printers.

N O T E  1 6 .  I N D U S T R Y  S E G M E N T  A N D  G E O G R A P H I C  I N F O R M A T I O N  

We adopted SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related 

Information,” in fiscal 1999. SFAS 131 establishes standards for the manner in which pub-

lic companies report information about operating segments and related disclosures about 

products, geographic information, and significant customers. The method for determining 

what information to report is based on the way executive management organizes the oper-

ating segments within Adobe for making operating decisions and assessing performance. 

We have four reportable segments that offer different product lines. These segments are 

Web Publishing, Cross-media Publishing, ePaper Solutions, and OEM PostScript and 

Other. The Web Publishing segment provides software to create Web sites with graphics, 

images, videos, and animations. The Cross-media Publishing segment provides software 

for professional page layout, illustration, business publishing, and printing. The ePaper 

Solutions segment allows users to convert information to Adobe Portable Document 

Format (“PDF”) with the original appearance preserved and allows for the distribution of 

documents via the Web, intranets, e-mail, or CD-ROM for viewing and printing on any 

system. The OEM PostScript and Other segment includes printing technology to create 

and print simple or visually rich documents with precision. This segment also includes 

revenue from divested businesses. 

During and prior to fiscal 2000, we evaluated our business based on the contribution 

 margins of each of our four segments. Recently, our executive management team changed 

the way it evaluates the performance of our business and now focuses on evaluating the 

gross margins of each of our segments. Prior period disclosures have been restated for 

consistent presentation to the fiscal 2000 disclosure. The accounting policies of the 

 operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant 
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accounting policies. We do not identify or allocate our assets by operating segments. As such, 

segment asset information is not disclosed.

The following results are broken out by operating  segments for the fiscal years 2000, 

1999, and 1998: 

     O E M

  W E B  C R O S S - M E D I A  e P A P E R  P O S T S C R I P T

  P U B L I S H I N G  P U B L I S H I N G  S O L U T I O N S  A N D  O T H E R  T O T A L

Fiscal 2000

Revenue  $ 536,614 $ 390,497 $ 207,780 $ 131,487 $ 1,266,378

Direct costs  35,903 28,470 12,828 10,054 87,255

Gross profit  500,711 362,027 194,952 121,433 1,179,123

   93% 93% 94% 92% 93%

Fiscal 1999

Revenue  $  394,073 $ 353,863 $  129,333 $ 138,165 $ 1,015,434

Direct costs  33,505 33,792 14,533 12,710 94,540

Gross profit  360,568 320,071 114,800 125,455 920,894

   91% 90% 89% 91% 91%

Fiscal 1998

Revenue  $  354,245 $ 272,200 $    57,954 $ 210,392 $    894,791

Direct costs  42,110 23,431 6,524 28,969 101,034

Gross profit  312,135 248,769 51,430 181,423 793,757

   88% 91% 89% 86% 89%

A reconciliation of the totals reported for the operating segments to the applicable line 

items in the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years 2000, 1999, and 1998 is 

as follows:

 D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Total gross profit 
from operating 
segments above  $ 1,179,123 $ 920,894  $ 793,757

Total operating 
expenses(a)  771,040 661,041  668,410

Total operating income  408,083 259,853  125,347

Other income  35,656 114,574  42,347

Income before taxes  $     443,739 $ 374,427  $ 167,694

(a) Total operating expenses include research and development, sales and marketing, general and administrative, restructuring 
and other, amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles, and acquired in-process research and development expenses. 

We categorize our geographic information into three major market regions: the Americas, 

EMEA, and Asia. The Americas region includes the U.S., Canada, Latin America, and 

Central America. The Asia region includes Japan and the Asian Pacific countries. 



Revenue and long-lived asset information by geographic areas for each of the years in the 

three-year period ended December 1, 2000 is presented below:

Revenue

 D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Americas:

 United States  $     616,733  $     497,842  $ 449,996

 Other  42,334  32,311  28,493

 Total Americas  659,067  530,153  478,489

Europe  323,037  265,981  240,220

Asia:

 Japan  224,326  175,122  150,824

 Other  59,948  44,178  25,258

 Total Asia  284,274  219,300  176,082

Total revenue  $ 1,266,378  $ 1,015,434  $ 894,791

Long-lived Assets

 D E C E M B E R  1  D E C E M B E R  3  N O V E M B E R  2 7

Y E A R S  E N D E D  2 0 0 0  1 9 9 9  1 9 9 8

Americas:

 United States  $ 56,894  $ 53,890  $ 67,946

 Total Americas  56,894  53,890  67,946

Europe  3,182  8,706  20,685

Asia  4,192  6,542  5,256

Total long-lived assets  $ 64,268  $ 69,138  $ 93,887

In fiscal 2000, licenses of application products to Ingram Micro, Inc. (“Ingram”) and Tech 

Data Corporation (“Tech Data”) accounted for 30% and 14%, respectively, of our total 

revenue. In fiscal 1999 and 1998, licenses of application products to Ingram accounted for 

27% and 14%, respectively, of our total revenue. 

Receivables from Ingram and Tech Data accounted for 32% and 18%, respectively, of our 

total receivables at December 1, 2000. As of December 3, 1999, receivables from Tech Data 

accounted for 11% of our total receivables, and in fiscal 1998 receivables from Ingram at 

year-end accounted for 14% of our total receivables.

N O T E  1 7 .  S U B S E Q U E N T  E V E N T S  

In December 2000, our Board of Directors approved an increase to Adobe’s authorized 

common stock, subject to stockholder approval, from 500.0 million to 900.0 million shares. 
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Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “ADBE.” 

On January 26, 2001, there were 1,672 holders of record of our common stock. Because 

many of such shares are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stock-

holders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these 

record holders. 

The following tables (presented in thousands, except per share amounts) set forth quarterly 

supplementary data, the high and low sales price per share of our common stock, and the 

cash dividends paid per share for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 

1, 2000. All share and per share amounts referred to in the table below have been adjusted to 

reflect the two-for-one stock split in the form of a stock dividend of our common stock 

effected October 24, 2000.

  Q U A R T E R  E N D E D    Y E A R  E N D E D

2 0 0 0  M A R .  3  J U N E  2  S E P.  1  D E C .  1  D E C .  1

Revenue  $ 282,232 $ 300,085 $ 328,867 $ 355,194 $ 1,266,378

Gross profi t  261,510 279,481 305,199 332,933 1,179,123

Income before income taxes 99,331 101,195 120,429 122,785 443,739

Net income  64,565 65,777 78,270 79,196 287,808

Basic net income per share 0.27 0.28 0.33 0.33 1.21

Shares used in computing 
basic net income per share 237,256 237,516 238,464 239,640 238,292

Diluted net income per share 0.26 0.26 0.31 0.31 1.13

Shares used in computing 
diluted net income per share 252,978 255,348 255,828 257,294 255,774

Common stock price per share

 High  53.31 65.50 71.66 87.31 87.31

 Low  26.72 38.50 51.50 60.75 26.72

Cash dividend per share  0.0125 0.0125 0.0125 0.0125 0.05

  Q U A R T E R  E N D E D    Y E A R  E N D E D

1 9 9 9  M A R .  5  J U N E  4  S E P.  3  D E C .  3  D E C .  3

Revenue  $ 226,902 $ 245,886 $ 260,876 $ 281,770 $ 1,015,434

Gross profi t  204,403 222,182 236,609 257,700 920,894

Income before income taxes 60,319 70,788 90,028 153,292 374,427

Net income  38,276 44,961 57,155 97,359 237,751

Basic net income per share 0.16 0.19 0.23 0.41 0.98

Shares used in computing 
basic net income per share 243,892 242,288 243,792 238,340 241,572

Diluted net income per share 0.15 0.18 0.22 0.38 0.92

Shares used in computing 
diluted net income per share 253,536 256,200 259,316 254,812 258,410

Common stock price per share

 High  12.75 20.27 26.32 39.50 39.50

 Low  9.19 11.36 16.75 23.77 9.19

Cash dividend per share  0.0125 0.0125 0.0125 0.0125 0.05

We have paid cash dividends on our common stock each quarter since the second quarter 

of 1988. In March 1997, we established the venture stock dividend program under which 

we may, from time to time, distribute as a dividend-in-kind shares of our equity holdings 

in investee companies to our stockholders.

Under the terms of our line of credit agreement and corporate headquarters lease agree-

ment, we may pay cash dividends unless an event of default has occurred or we do not 

meet certain fi nancial ratios. The declaration of future dividends, whether in cash or in-

kind, is within the discretion of Adobe’s Board of Directors and will depend upon 

business conditions, our results of operations, our fi nancial condition, and other factors.

Quarterly Results of Operations (In thousands, except per share data)



The Board of Directors pursues its oversight role for these consolidated financial 

statements through the Audit Committee, which is comprised solely of Directors who 

are not officers or employees of the Company. The Audit Committee meets with 

management periodically to review their work and to monitor the discharge of each of 

their responsibilities. The Audit Committee also meets periodically with KPMG LLP, the 

independent auditors, who have free access to the Audit Committee or the Board of 

Directors, without management present, to discuss internal accounting control, auditing, 

and financial reporting matters.

KPMG LLP is engaged to express an opinion on our consolidated financial statements. 

Their opinion is based on procedures believed by them to be sufficient to provide 

reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements are not materially mis-

leading and do not contain material errors.

 

Murray J. Demo

Senior Vice President 

and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

December 12, 2000

Management is responsible for all the information and representations contained in the 

consolidated financial statements and other sections of this Annual Report. Management 

believes that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America appropriate 

in the circumstances to reflect, in all material respects, the substance of events and trans-

actions that should be included, and that the other information in this Annual Report is 

consistent with those statements. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 

management makes informed judgments and estimates of the expected effects of events 

and transactions that are currently being accounted for.

In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of the consolidated financial statements, 

management depends on the Company’s system of internal accounting controls. This 

system is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and 

transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization, and are 

recorded properly to permit the preparation of consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America. In designing control procedures, management recognizes that errors or irregu-

larities may nevertheless occur. Also, estimates and judgments are required to assess and 

balance the relative cost and expected benefits of the controls. Management believes that 

the Company’s accounting controls provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregu-

larities that could be material to the consolidated financial statements are prevented or 

would be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of perform-

ing their assigned functions.

Management’s Report
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Adobe Systems Incorporated: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Adobe Systems 

Incorporated and subsidiaries as of December 1, 2000 and December 3, 1999, and the 

related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and other comprehensive 

income, and cash fl ows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 1, 

2000. These consolidated fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial 

statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable  assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and  disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements referred to above present fairly, in 

all material respects, the financial position of Adobe Systems Incorporated and 

 subsidiaries as of December 1, 2000 and December 3, 1999, and the results of their 

 operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended 

December 1, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the  

United States of America.

 

KPMG LLP 

Mountain View, California

December 12, 2000

Independent Auditors’ Report
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If you would like to be sent fi nancial documents 
such as annual reports, earnings press releases, or 
Adobe’s SEC fi lings on Form 10-Q or Form 10-K, 
you can request them without charge by contacting 
Adobe Investor Relations at 408-536-4700 or via 
e-mail at adobe@kpcorp.com. Please include your 
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dates, listen to Adobe management conference calls, 
view recent Adobe investor presentations, and obtain 
other Adobe fi nancial-related documents online at 
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This Annual Report contains forward-looking state-
ments that involve risks and uncertainties, and actual 
results may differ materially. Factors that could cause 
or contribute to such differences include, but are not 
limited to, those discussed in the Letter to Stock-
holders and Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations as 
well as those discussed elsewhere in other documents 
we file from time to time with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. When used in this report, the 
words “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” 
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forward- looking statements. You should not place 
undue reliance on the forward-looking statements, 
which speak only as of the date of this Annual 
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release any revisions to the forward-looking state-
ments or reflect events or  circumstances after the 
date of this document. 

C O L O P H O N
This Annual Report was electronically  produced with 
Adobe software, including Adobe Illustrator, Adobe 
InDesign, Adobe Photoshop, and Adobe PostScript 
technology. The text is set in Minion® and Myriad® 
master typefaces from the Adobe Type Library.


	Financials
	Financial Highlights
	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of  Operation
	Consolidated Balance Sheets
	Consolidated Statements of Income
	Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	Quarterly Results of Operations
	Management's Report
	Independent Auditor's Report


